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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

2021 is the first year of the “14th Five-Year plan”. By
studying policy direction and gaining insights on market
trends, we explored new opportunities in the new era and
developed our 14th Five-Year strategic plan, in which we
clearly stated our vision of leading
healthcare group in China and a pioneer in the reformation
of state-owned medical institutions”, marking the first step
of CR Medical
roadmap. As the epidemic continued its
in combating the pandemic while
guaranteeing the medical quality and safety of our hospitals.

“striving to be a

in taking forward its new development
rampage, we
contributed ourselves

This demonstrates our inheritance of the patriotic and
our accountability as a state-owned
medical institution, our commitment to saving lives and

revolutionary spirit,

relieving pain of the injured as a people-oriented medical
institution, as well as our corporate culture of striving for
public health.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt
gratitude to all shareholders for their support, to all the
friends in our society for offering strong support to us in the
fight against the pandemic, to all of our staff members for
their hard work and dedication, and to all of our frontline
medical workers for their devotion.

During the reporting period, the medical operations of the
Group grew steadily. The number of outpatient visits to our
member hospitals increased by 39.9% vyear-on-year and by
22.8% as compared with 2019. During the reporting period,
the number of inpatient visits grew by 28.3% year-on-year
and by 11.7% as compared with 2019. In 2021, the Group
recorded a net profit attributable to the parent of RMB418
million, increased by 34.8%
compared with 2019. From the perspective of the operation
of the member hospitals, the total medical business revenue
was RMB8,272 million, rise of 24.5%
year-on-year and a 20.4% up as compared with 2019.

year-on-year and by 6.9%

representing a
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEREE

This year, we made strenuous efforts in the development of
medical technology. Our member hospitals have embarked
on the new journey of achieving quality development with
medical technology, while we continue to strengthen
specialty development and indicator management. With four
key municipal specialties and one key municipal construction
unit added to our hospitals, we currently own six key
provincial specialties and thirty key municipal specialties in
total. Beijing Jian Gong Hospital was successfully upgraded
to a Grade Il Chinese and Western hospital in November
2021, marking it the sixth Grade Il hospital in the network
of CR Medical. "3-in-1"
smart hospitals based on the principle.
Through promoting the establishment of a medical internet
platform and experimenting the intelligent patient service
scenario, we hope to enhance patients’ satisfaction and

We facilitated the construction of
“value creation”

expand the radius of our medical services. To facilitate
diversified communication and collaboration with top
domestic institutions, we successively entered into strategic
cooperation agreements with the National Clinical Research
Center for Digestive Diseases, the Institute of Automation,
Chinese Academy of Sciences, etc.

We steadfastly and successfully implemented our
development roadmap this year. During the reporting period,
following our regional leadership strategy, we entered into
an agreement to acquire Huai'an City Huaiyin Hospital (a
Grade Il comprehensive for-profit hospital) at the beginning
of 2021 to further expand into the Yangtze River Delta
The project was completed in June 2021. In
addition, we entered into a hospital management agreement
with CR Land in respect of Yuenianhua Rehabilitation
Hospital in March 2021. Pursuant to this agreement, we
provided preliminary preparatory and subsequent
management services to Yuenianhua Rehabilitation Hospital,
which formally commenced operation in May 2021.

region.
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As for financial management, the financial statements of
Guangdong 999 Brain Hospital and Xukuang Hospital have
been consolidated into the Group since August 2021. The
Group has completed the consolidation of all the member
hospitals whose sponsors are subsidiaries of the Company.
Not only does it demonstrate the Group’s control over the
relevant sponsored hospitals, it also allows our financial

statements to be more reflective of our business

performance.

Looking ahead,
Group, we will continue to develop our business portfolio of
regional leading hospitals and academic specialty hospitals.

in line with the 14th Five-Year plan of the

By establishing leading hospital clusters and
academic specialty hospital clusters and acquiring and

consolidating premium hospital

regional
resources, we aim at
achieving robust organic growth and swift external

expansion.

During the 14th Five-Year plan, we aim to establish regional
leading high-standard specialties to better serve the patients
by improving the medical technology, medical quality and
service capability of our hospitals. We also target to achieve
high-quality growth and boost the commercial value of our
hospitals through group management, management

upgrades, cost reduction and efficiency enhancement.

2022 is a critical year in the implementation of the 14th
Five-Year plan. We must be committed to the mission of
“striving for public health”. With passion, we will advance
our medical technology and acquire premium resources with
a view to developing a state-owned hospital development
model with the characteristics of China Resources. We will
spare no effort in implementing strategic initiatives in order
to establish a high-quality integrated healthcare group with
strong specialties and world class management and thereby
usher CR Medical in a new era of development.

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
Song Qing
Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBNWEDTN

The Group achieved a consolidated revenue of RMB4,447
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020:
RMB2,751 million; 2019: RMB2,115 million); the increase in
revenue was mainly attributable to the improved operating
efficiency as well as the effects in relation to the acquisition
of Huaiyin Hospital in June 2021 and the consolidation of
certain hospitals (for details, please refer to the section
headed “Consolidating certain hospitals” below).

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net profit
of RMB426 million (2020: RMB320 million; 2019: RMB401
million) and earnings per share of RMB0.33 (2020: RMBO0.25
per share; 2019: RMBO0.31 per share). The increase in net
profit was mainly attributable to the
contribution of our member hospitals, resulting from the
implementation of the Group’'s strategy in
strengthening the management of our member hospitals’
daily operation and promoting their service quality and
operation efficiency, which helped our member hospitals
effectively cope with the challenges brought about by the
new normal with the epidemic and improved their overall
financial performance.

improved profit

successful

In 2021, the material impairments to the accounting items
of the Group include impairment of approximately RMB213
million in in CR
Wugang JV, which is one-off and non-cash in nature, and
other material impairments (mainly on receivables) amounted
to approximately RMB124 million. The Group recorded the

respect of our long-term investment

reversal of deferred tax liabilities of credit amount of
approximately RMB221 relation to the
derecognition of sponsorship rights and service contracts
resulting from the consolidation of serval sponsored
hospitals in August 2021. Together with the effects in
relation to certain abovementioned impairments, the related
deferred tax credit amount was approximately RMB283

million.

million in
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2021,
operates 120 medical institutions in 8 provinces and cities in
China, and the number of annual outpatient visits of the
Group’s member hospitals was approximately 10,780,000,
representing an increase of 39.9% and 22.8% compared
with 2020 and 2019, respectively. The annual number of
inpatient was approximately 282,000, representing an
increase of 28.3% and 11.7% compared with 2020 and
2019, respectively. The operational efficiency of the Group’s
member hospitals has been significantly improved in the first
half of 2021 and maintained in the second half of the year.

the Group manages and

During the year, the Group has completed the acquisition of
Huaiyin Hospital and gradually consolidated certain other
hospitals. Among which, Huaiyin Hospital’'s financial
statements have been consolidated into the Group's

consolidated financial statements since June 2021.

In addition, the amendments to the respective constitutional
documents of a number of member medical institutions
have been gradually implemented pursuant to the
requirements under the ‘Guiding Opinions on the Pilot
Scheme for the Formulation of Hospital Constitutions’ jointly
issued by the National Health Commission and the National
Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine in May 2018,
the model template of public hospital constitution issued by
the National Health Commission in December 2019 and the
guidelines given by the
authorities of its member medical institutions. On August
30, 2021, such constitution amendments on Guangdong
999 Brain Hospital, and Huaibei City
Mental Health Center have been implemented and other
relevant documents in respect of the corresponding medical
institutes have been executed. As a result, the Group has
obtained the practical capability to direct the
activities of the relevant medical institutes unilaterally and
gained control over them. Their financial statements have
been consolidated into the Group's financial statements as
of even date.

respective local government

Xukuang Hospital

relevant

EEENWEDAN
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. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
 EEEHRESN

"

List of Medical Institutions under the rEEEREEEERRBO MR
Group’s Management and Operation

Grade |

Hospitals Clinics &

and Other

Community Medical

Grade Il Grade |l Centres Institutions

Hospitals Hospitals —A&RAER KR ZAKEM

Province/City B/ =B —RER FEA L BRI
Beijing =R 2 4 11 29 46
Shandong IS = 2 2 10 14
Shanxi 1ipid) = 1 = = 1
Jiangsu® T ER = 2 — — 2
Anhui T 1 3 19 6 29
Hubei il 2 = 3 16 21
Guangdong Ex 1 1 — 2 4
Guangxi®? Er@ = 2 1 — 3
Total Gl 6 15 36 63 120

Notes: 3

(1) Huaiyin Hospital's financial statements have been consolidated to the (1) R B B RK 82021 F6 ARBMALERE
consolidated financial statements of the Group since June 2021. P RERE A -

) On March 12, 2021, Hubei Runkang Healthcare Management Co., Ltd. (a  (2) MR2021F3A128 I EEREEEERFRET AR

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (as the manager) and Shenzhen (KRElz2EMBRR)(EAXFEH) EIRYITHE
Runtou Consulting Co., Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Land) (as WEABRAR (EHEM 7 2EWB AR (EAE
the principal) entered into the hospital management agreement and A EIBRERESERRRAEE TB 2 HF
pursuant to which the latter shall appoint the former as the manager to EFEERREHE2EELSEERS -

provide comprehensive operation and management services for the
Yuenianhua Rehabilitation Hospital.

12 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Established in 1953, Jian Gong Hospital was formerly known
as Beijing Construction Workers Hospital and the General
Hospital of the Ministry of Construction. In October 2021, it
was approved to be upgraded to a grade 3 integrative
hospital. The hospital operates about 400 beds. During the
Reporting Period, its number of outpatient visits was about
791,000, and the number of inpatients was about 15,000,
representing year-on-year growth of 41.2% and 36.7%
respectively year-on-year. The medical income of Jian Gong
Hospital in 2021 was approximately RMB777 million.

Guangdong 999 Brain Hospital was established in 1994. It is
a grade 3 specialized hospital which locates in Guangzhou,
the Guangdong Province. Its key discipline is neurosurgery.
The hospital operates approximately 800 beds. During the
Reporting Period, the number of outpatient visits was
approximately 330,000, and the number of inpatients was
approximately 18,000, representing year-on-year growth of
21.2% and 24.3%, respectively. The hospital's medical
income in 2021 was approximately RMB1,017 million.

Huaikuang Hospital was established in 1958. It is a grade
3A general hospital located in the Anhui Province, and with
trauma surgery as its characteristic discipline. The hospital
operates approximately 2,300 beds. During the Reporting
Period, the number of outpatient visits was approximately
1,134,000, representing a year-on-year growth of 17.6%,
and the number of inpatients was approximately 61,000,
similar to the previous year. The hospital’s medical income
in 2021 was approximately RMB768 million.

EEENWEDAN

fEEBRA N 1963F AT G At mmEE
TAER - 2 F04R%0 - KR2021F 107 %
MEAAZE=RPABLES B - %8B
B2 BURALA4005 - REHRMZE A
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DRI H141.2% }.36.7% ° 2021 F i = B
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BR = NISEI BRI A 1994F - AURE
REBMM 2 =MBEREBR - EF2R AW
KEONR} o 37 B8 B B & IR A2 498009 + ¥}
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20201 FZEMBEBEEBRABDAREK
10.17187C »

HREBPTAR N 1958F « AR EHEZ=
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Bl o :ZEEPTIB L FMURALAI2,3005K R HA
NP2 EAKN113.48 AR LEEN
17.6%  FIREAXCIBAR  HE FFE
B 202V FZIBEEBBARBHDAR
¥ 7 6818 7T °

ERERERERAT —T-—FRF



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Wugang General Hospital was established in Wuhan City in
1958. Wugang General Hospital is a grade 3A general
hospital with about 1,000 beds. During the Reporting Period,
the number of outpatient visits and inpatient visits of the
hospital was approximately 734,000 and 35,000,
representing year-on-year increase of 36.5% and 43.0%,
respectively. In 2021, income of Wugang
General Hospital was approximately RMB715 million.

the medical

Founded in 1956, Jing Mei Hospital is a grade 3 general
hospital operates
approximately 2,000 beds. During the Reporting Period, the
number of outpatient visits was approximately 1,966,000
and the number of inpatients was approximately 38,000,
representing year-on-year increase of 36.4% and 9.1%,
respectively. The hospital’s medical income in 2021 was
approximately RMB1,778 million.

located in Beijing. The hospital

In addition to the aforesaid hospitals, the other member
institutions of the Group together operates
approximately 5,700 beds. During the Reporting Period, the
number

medical

of outpatient visits and
approximately 5,826,000 and 115,000, representing year-on-
year increase of 48.2% and 57.6%. In 2021, the total
medical income of the relevant medical institutions was
approximately RMB3,217 million.

inpatients were

I 4APT R 1958 F R REM AL RN
RHRELREBE - EERBUKRGIA 1,000
R MEBMAZRMZEBNTIABANL
FHREALIEBAR  ERFHFILIN36.5%
$43.0% ° 2021 4F E\ #f 48 Bt & 28 B = TS A
BHYARET 15(ETT °

TR BT IR 1956 F + BAINIE R Z =&
RE BT o ZBETESFMBURAIA2,0005 -
HEHAFILEBLN196.6BAX - (EIRES
W3 8EBAX R FHHIEMN36.4% K&
9.1% ° 2021 F Z M BEEBKRARBLDHA
R¥17.7818 7T -

br bt ERIN - NEBHMKEBREEES
ETIBE R MURALAB, 7005 @ shEHAMIZE
A#I582.6BANX - FRRE AT BEAX
BE D RIIEINA8.2% K 57.6% ° 2021 F1HE
EERBHNEBEEBRAGEROARY
32.17187T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEHREIN

Operating data for Year 2021 2021 F & EHE

Number of patients Revenue from medical business (RMB'000)
DBEAR BEEBUAARBTT)

Revenue Revenue Revenue

Number of  Utilization from from from
beds in rate of Number of Number of  outpatient inpatient physical
operation beds outpatients  inpatients visits visits examination
BERAY KUuERE FMZAR  ERAR  FZBA  EREA BREA

Self-owned AEBR®
Hospitals™e 10,469 7% 7562810 242321 2954506 3620303 128421 6,703,230
|OT/OT Hospitals 0T/OTE 1,773 55% 3217655 39,632 980626 531,163 57,260 1,569,049
Subtotal Nt 12,242 70% 10780465 281,953 3935132 41151466 185,681 8272279
Operating data for Year 2020 2020 F & B E B

Number of patients Revenue from medical business (RMB'000)
BEEBIWANRETT)
Revenue  Revenue  Revenue
Number of  Utilization from from from
beds in rate of Number of Number of  outpatient inpatient physical

operation beds outpatients  inpatients visits visits examination

ERMUH RUEAE  MZAR ERAR  FZRA  ERERA

Self-owned BEER®

Hospitals™o® 7,481 67% 4,246,313 164,343 1,606,092 2,291,121 90,293 3,987,506
IOT/OT Hospitals |OT/OT &% 3,484 60% 3,459,692 55,415 1,591,639 1,011,990 52,717 2,656,346
Subtotal Nt 10,965 65% 7,706,005 219,758 3,197,731 3,303,111 143,010 6,643,852

Note: In respect of the operating data statistics, the abovementioned self-owned 5 : FEEHELRFTEN LiilgEERAEAEE
hospitals refer to all consolidated hospitals and unconsolidated hospitals of FAEHREREIEHRER  TEERASEEE
the Group, and except for the IOT/OT hospitals managed by the Group. H10T/OTE T ©

ERBEERERLAT —T - —Fw% 15
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

Financial data

Financial data for Year 2021

B 7% S 15
2021F B & 15

Segment results
Self-owned IOT/OT  Other derived  Administrative Other gains
2021 hospitals hospitals businesses expenses and expenses
H fth ez Ko
RMB'000 BAEBR IOT/OT®E&B EMITE%EH TBER 35!
Revenue from goods and P8 o R AR A U
services 4,447,477 3,968,459 453,843 25,175 = =
Cost of sales and services & RIRBEHA (3,513,922) (3,169,038) (315,087) (29,797) = =
Other income HepA 46,322 32,395 7,915 6,012 = =
Selling and distribution HERDHER
expenses (16,396) (11,791) (4,533) (72) - -
Administrative expenses THER (332,426) (308,498) (18,602) (5,326) - -
Finance costs BMsER (2,516) (2,450) - (66)
Impairment losses on CREEREBEFE
financial assets,net (77,539) (77,539) = - - -
Other expenses Hi B (2,951) (2,488) - (463) - -
Share of profit of joint =Yt NG
ventures/associates b 83,553 83,553 =
Segment results D HEE 631,602 512,603 123,536 (4,537) N/ARER N/ATEMA
Headquarters operating BPELER
expenses (139,407) - - - (139,407) -
Other profit or loss HinBam (206,403) = = = = (206,403)
Finance costs BB (15,318) — — - — (15,318)
Share of profit of joint ElEEE HEAR
ventures/associates b 1 = = = = 1
Income tax Fie® 155,389 — — - — 155,389
Net profit or loss FES 425,864 512,603 123,536 (4,537) (139,407) (66,331)
Revenue from medical BREBERA
business 8,272,279 6,703,230 1,569,049 = N/ATER N/ATE A

Notes: N

During the Reporting Period: REE A -

(1 Self-owned hospitals include: Jian Gong Hospital, Jinan Zhong Qi Hospital, (1) BEREREE B8k BEmEARER  EERER
Huaikuang Hospital Group, the Run Neng Hospitals, Guangdong 999 Brain £E OB RER  BER-NMKEIER  BEER L
Hospital, Xukuang Hospital and Huaibei City Mental Health, and also VEILTIAB (O IR) AR O - AR BT (52021
Huai'yin Hospital (since June 30, 2021). This segments also includes the F6HA30HE) - HHESHFELBREAREEEZERE
return on the Group's investments to Jing Mei Hospital and the Wugang Be B AN 8 B P SR E AT E S A9 WS -

Hospital Group.

In the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this RAREBEBEEINRENTIED  BEERDE
report, the segment results of self-owned hospitals do not include the ¥EHNTEUEBIRMAE AR ZRAREREE
impairment of approximately RMB213 million in respect of the long-term HHAARE21SBITHRE (BA—IRIERIER
investment in CR Wugang JV. Such impairment is one-off and non-cash in 21HE) -

nature.

2) |0T hospitals include: Mentougou Hospital, Mentougou Traditional Chinese  (2) IOTE T BE - FIsREE BT - PISEER P Bk - M
Medicine Hospital, Mentougou Hospital for Women and Children, Shunyi HERFBHRERT - IEREEEER  EEERE_5E
District Konggang Hospital, the Second Hospital of Shunyi District. B o

3) OT hospitals include: Yantai Zhifu Hospital, Yuenianhua Rehabilitation  (3) OTEREIE : BaZRER HWEEREBRLE

Hospital and Tai'an City Hospital (up to September 30, 2021).

i b (8 2202149A30H) ¢

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED AN

Financial data for Year 2020

2020 F B # 2 1%

Segment results
4E

2020

RMB'000

Self-owned
hospitals

BAER

|OT/OT & F%

10T/0T

hospitals businesses

HATEEH

Other derived ~ Administrative

expenses

Other gains
and expenses
H U as K
-

Revenue from goods and i MR W as

services 2,750,650 1,963,459 760,856 26,335 — —
Cost of sales and services  $5%& MR A (2,114,143) (1,527,682) (566,051) (20,410) — —
Other income Hipd A 29,189 14,075 9,588 5,526 — —
Other gains and losses H b ez K BB 356 356 — — — —
Selling and distribution HERDHER

expenses (14,201) (6,280) (7,921) — —
Administrative expenses THRER (201,821) (157,806) (33,641) (10,374) — —
Finance costs B 75 & A (2,444) (2,422) (22)
Impairment losses on CREERAEREFE

financial assets,net (20,178) (18,258) (1,920) — — —
Impairment losses on an HitEVEERERE

other intangible assets (3,588) — (3,588) —
Other expenses HEtER (7,392) (7.173) — (219) — —
Share of profit of joint FEhE %/ HE R

ventures/associates FE 35,119 1,072 34,047 — = =
Segment results DEBEE 451,547 259,341 191,370 836 N/AT & A N/ATEA
Headquarters operating BBEEER

expenses (121,943) = = = (121,943) =
Other profit or loss HihiB 103,679 = = = = 103,679
Finance costs % ER (14,947) = = = = (14,947)
Share of profit of e B 1 A F B

associates (151) = — — — (151)
Income tax FiEHt (97,864) = = = = (97,864)
Net profit or loss FER 320,321 259,341 191,370 836 (121,943) (9,283)
Revenue from medical BREBHRA

business 6,643,852 3,987,506 2,656,346 — N/AZ i N/AZ 38 B

ERBRERERAT T —FW® 17
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

In 2021, the aggregated results of all segments amounted
to about RMB632 million, which increased by approximately
39.9% as compared with the previous year, and such year-
on-year increase is mainly due to the rapid recovery of the
business operation of the member hospitals of the Group
when the impact of epidemic in China has been effectively
controlled, and the satisfactory business growth of the self-
owned hospitals as a whole during the Reporting Period.

Since August 30, 2021, the financial statements of
Guangdong 999 Brain Hospital,
Huaibei City Mental Health Center have been consolidated
into the Group's financial statements.

Xukuang Hospital and
Please find more

details in the section headed "“Business Review —
Consolidating certain hospitals” of this report. According to
the abovementioned changes in the consolidation

arrangement in our financial
Reporting Period, our financial results have been classified in
two segments which are Self-owned Hospitals and IOT/OT

Hospitals.

statements, during the

During the Reporting Period, the medical business revenue
of the self-owned hospital segment increased by 68.1%
year-on-year to approximately RMB6.7 billion, and the
segment results recorded an increase of 97.7% to
approximately RMB513 million, the growth
income of the self-owned hospitals is mainly due to the
improved operating efficiency of existing hospitals, and the
completion of the acquisitions of Jinan Zhongqi Hospital and
Huaiyin Hospital. The improvement in the segment results of
the self-owned hospitals segment was driven by the
improvement in operating efficiency of the hospitals due to
the further strengthening of the daily operation management
of them and their ability to cope with the new normal under
the epidemic during the Reporting Period.

in segment

2021 B EB Y HBIEEHHN A/ARKEG.32
Bor REFRELLIEME39.9% - BENIZ
FIERETEHNREIRNLTEBETEKEE
B B 48 & e (R B B R (B A T B TR R
g - MEBBBRAREBHAEERER
P RATE ©

E202148HA30RR ' ER = NIKFIER -
RIEERT RoEIL TS (L IR) eSO 2 B
BRERHFALEENFBERRA  FHELAX
WEEBOE — HR—RIER]BD -
FEL ERHRTHAE  REBHRDEE
BB A B ERMIOT/OTER IR »

WEHA BAEBR DN BEEBWAR
L3RR 68.1% ZHARMEG7IET - o #BFIHE
BRISRLIERIT TN EHNARBEE13ETT -
ETEEERDHBHKALERTIEANTE
ERCEMmE  MEBETKERES
Bl RERBRAGE - MEBL o Eauk
ABRISRIEIGR - MBE A BRALE RIF N
SZABERTFBEFEAIG M - EEE N mNK
EXTZHRMEMANE T INAKE B
AHEELER RAABHEBETHMBEN
BENFTE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWEDS N

CR Hospital Holdings, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the restructuring agreement with
Jing Mei Group in respect of Jing Mei Hospital and its
branches on June 28, 2020 and pursuant to which CR
Hospital Holdings and Jing Mei Group agreed to establish a
sponsorship joint venture and a management joint venture.
Such joint ventures shall be owned as to 49% by CR
Hospital Holdings and 51% by Jing Mei Group. The contract
parties also agreed that Jing Mei Group, the management
joint venture and Jing Mei Hospital shall enter into a new
10T
agreement in order to replace the latter, and pursuant to
which the management joint venture shall provide hospital
management services to the Jing Mei Hospital Group and
receive management fee income accordingly. The
abovementioned original 10T agreement was then
terminated with retrospective effect from December 31,

OT agreement on terms similar to the original

2019, whilst the new OT agreement retrospectively became
effective on January 1, 2020.

202056 A28H ' AEBE TEZEMBE R
AEHERIEREREEERIREEBRET
BobimBERELTHEETEARS  EF R
EREHBRIERMTESEE D RIFER49%
M51% MBI LA ERBEARMEEE
BAaE e MREEAERGE  FINFRERE
5H £EERATAIRREBRAELRRE
IOTHZEBBEARREFMHOOTHE - Wikt
HEEEERARIMRKERIEREREER
BIWRMERE Rz RIOTHHECEBHE
201912 A3V BRI - RIBBFHOTH =
BB E2020F 1 A1 HBER -

2021 2020 Year-on-Year Change
20214 20204 At &1t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 Percentage
Self-owned hospitals ARETIT ARBTT AR®ETT ERasd
Revenue from medical BEREEBBA
business 6,703,230 3,987,506 2,715,724 68.1%
General healthcare services #3& BERS
performance 137,941 72,271 65,670 90.9%
Hospital management BERERERBEE
services fees 53,269 47,889 5,380 11.2%
Third-party supply chain FE=-HHERE
service fees R & 181,082 108,683 72,399 66.6%
GPO gross profit GPOERH| 167,628 56,093 111,535 198.8%
Profit contribution FBER S5 539,920 284,936 254,984 89.5%
Profit contribution rate FEE R = 8.1% 71% 1ppt
Operating expenses and EEBAK
other profit or loss HEfbiEm (27,317) (25,595) (1,722) 6.7%
Segment results DEEE 512,603 259,341 253,262 97.7%
Segment results rate 7 B FI = 7.6% 6.5% 1.1ppt

ERBRERERLRA —T——FH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWEDSN
Segment Results — I0T/OT Hospitals DEBHELE — IOT/OTERR

The revenue from medical business of the IOT/OT hospital I0T/OT &t 5 A TR BA R HY B8 ZE RS U A
segment decreased by 40.9% when compared with the prior A1 —F Rt FFE40.9% © Mo BELER
year, while this segment recorded a YoY decrease of 35.4%  [f#35.4% ' = BE 7 /E BN EIARE
in its results, that is due to the reclassification of Jing Mei BRI E BB D ZBATE -

Hospital to the category of self-owned hospitals segment.

|OT/OT hospitals

2021 2020 Year-on-Year Change
20214 20205 Ei=4-Lie
IOT/OTZFx RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  Percentage
ARBTT ARETT ARBTE Rl

Revenue from medical BEREBKRA

business 1,569,049 2,656,346 (1,087,297) -40.9%
Hospital management EREEREE

services fees 33,500 65,058 (31,558) -48.5%
Third-party supply chain E=HHERE

service fees 5 & 54,356 71,603 (17,247) ~24.1%
GPO gross profit GPOE| 70,344 127,456 (57,112) -44.8%
Profit contribution FEERS 158,200 264,117 (105,917) -40.1%
Profit contribution rate FHERE 10.1% 9.9% 0.2ppt
Operating expenses and other &4 &M K& 2

profit or loss B (34,664) (72,747) 38,083 -52.4%
Segment results PIEE 123,536 191,370 (67,834) —35.4%
Segment profit margin 2 EBRER 7.9% 7.2% 0.7ppt

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The total operating expenses of the headquarters amounted
to approximately RMB139 million in 2021 (FY2020: RMB122
million), accounting for 29.6% of the total administrative
expenses of the Group (FY2020: 37.7%). During the period
in 2020,
government exemption for

local
its contributions to the
employees’ social insurance in a specific period of time.

of epidemic the Company received the

Since the Group did not have such an exemption in 2021,
its headquarters during the
Reporting Period recorded an increase as compared with the

the operating expenses of

previous year.

During the Reporting Period, other loss of the Group totaled
approximately RMB206 million (FY2020: profit of
RMB104 million). Other profit or loss includes the Group's
interest income, income from wealth management products
held, foreign exchange gains or losses and impairments
made pursuant to the relevant accounting standards by the
Group.

other

During the year, an one-off impairment (which is non-cash in
nature) of approximately RMB213 million has been made on
the Group’s long-term investment in CR Wugang JV. Since
Wuhan (Group) Corporation No. 2 Staff
Hospital, which is one of the sponsored hospitals under
such joint venture, incurred an operating loss during the
Reporting Period with the figure higher than the budget.
The Company engaged an independent valuer to conduct an
impairment test of such long-term equity investment item

Iron and Steel

accordingly. The independent valuer then issued a valuation
report with the factors including budgeted revenue, discount
rate and growth rate being considered, and the Group made
the above-mentioned impairment with reference to such
report. The said impairment resulted in the Group's
recording of a net loss for this accounting item during the
Reporting Period.

EEENWEDAN

20215 - BHELBRAEHHARKE1.39E
7L (2020 UF B - AR¥E1.221B7T) - (B
SE2EHITHE R BEM29.6% (202081 X
FE :37.7%) c BR2020F AEZIBFIBFRA
SEHXEINTERBRESHIEBT R
2021 FR|MmZIB R L - RS HAR
NEBEEEBRR E—FB—E/EM-

WEMR AEBZEMBBATHARKE
2.06E 7T (2020 M FE « b zm AR
1.04B70) - HttER B A EE M F B U
A FTRHEEYERMESNRATIERE
& UERASBERBER S ERELNRE
HE e

FAXRSEHEFRHES 2 AR RARER
BIEEOHNRARB 213 —RMERE
CGEREME) - REFAZAERE TEDN
Hp—x 8RR — e (88 A
AF_BIBRAREHANEL T SNEY
ML EE  ARRBEE LT HMmEZE
B ERERBETREES - BT EE
ERTRENRS  MREMEREZRERN
ATFHERE  ARB2EEENREES
BRETT EARELZH - WREFRE
HAKBERSHANIL &5HEB BREEE -

ERERERERAT —T-—FRF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

During the Reporting Period, the unallocated finance costs of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB15.32 million
(FY2020: RMB14.95 million). This was due to the increase in
the Group’s bank loan in relation to its acquisition project
and certain other arrangements.

The income tax recorded a credit figure of RMB155 million
(the income tax charge for 2020 was RMB98 million). The
credit figure of income tax item as recorded by the Group
during the Reporting Period was due to the reversal of
deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB221 million and
RMB53 million, respectively, in relation to the derecognition
of sponsorship rights and service contracts resulting from
the consolidation of several hospitals in the third quarter of
the year and the impairment of the long-term investment in
the CR Wugang JV at the end of the year.

The Group recorded a net profit of RMB426 million, during
the Reporting Period representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 33%.

WEBRA AEEZRDEVBEREFL
ARE15328 T (20200 BHEFEE : AR
1,495&70)  TTHERFERX S REMTHE
BMAKB 2 RITERSERTEMATE -

REBSSAEHEINSER/RARK1.55E
7 (2020 F AFT1SH B A £ 5 A AR 9,800
B70) c MEHAREESREAERESBRIE
DHREAEEF=FEHERZREREHNEH
BIMERRE B ETBERERARFREE
BRMEERAFNRBKRERERED RE
EHARE2.211ETL R ARKES,300 8 THYIE
FEF B (E 8 B TR

AREERHEHARESFEFNBEAREL26E
7T [RIELEE N33 % e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The amendments to the respective constitutional documents
of the member medical institutions, which are sponsored by
our subsidiaries, have been completed pursuant to the
requirements under the ‘Guiding Opinions on the Pilot
Scheme for the Formulation of Hospital Constitutions’ jointly
issued by the National Health Commission and the National
Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine in May 2018,
the model template of public hospital constitution issued by
the National Health Commission in December 2019 and the
guidelines given by the respective local government
authorities. As such, the Group has therefore obtained the
practical capability to direct the relevant activities of such
medical institutes unilaterally and gained control over them,
and their financial statements have therefore gradually been
consolidated into the Group's financial statements in 2020
and 2021. Due to the above consolidation, the Group no
longer records any sponsorship rights and service contracts
related to such sponsored hospitals in the consolidated

statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021.

Management of the Company performed
reviews of goodwill annually or more frequently if events or

impairment

changes in circumstances indicated a potential impairment.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill relates were determined based on the
fair value under income approach less costs of disposal.
These calculations required the use of estimates and
professional judgements, and management of the Company
involved an external valuer in these calculations. Based on
the management’s assessment, no impairment was required

on the goodwill of the Group as at December 31, 2021.

EEENWEDAN

BRERRFERRZESNERPELEE
BE2018F5 AlA TR (ENFRE ST 5
RERANTIENEEER) BERELER
BELZEEMN2019F 12 A TEM AT BiREi2
A - LA RS T BAK B B RS P 7 H A9 48
BB EPIFT4 TS AASENRE R
BIFTER PRI B BB IRBE KT
AEREBIIE A&ERALE AEEBEBIE
BEBARERIEREEE MIEH B
BRERE N BEZ2UBREITE R
20204 k2021 F3E A 0F AR B R B 5 &
W o EfE L fFRLHE - AEBER20215F12
A3 BREGREMERRRE E T Eia R
BRZEERREBRABREERER -

ARRIEEESFHHBETRESE I
EAMEHHIBRE (A EEBETRNRE
AIEEMEESSEMEMmET - HERSE
BB E SR RS AR EE
TEEMAAEBERELEXNATEMS -
ERNEENGTETEEGNEEAE AR
AEE BB HEMETHEBTE - R
BEEEBHTE HE2021F12A31B A%
ErHEREFAERE-

ERERERERAT —T-—FRF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and
Disposals, Investments in and
Receivables from Joint Venture(s) and
Subsequent Plans for Material Capital
Investments

The Board considers any single investment with fair value
accounting for more than 5% of the total assets of the
Group as significant investment. As the Group did not have
any single investment accounting for 5% or more of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021, the
Group did not have any significant investments.

Investment in UMP Healthcare Holdings

UMP Healthcare Holdings, listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange (Stock code 722.HK), is mainly engaged in
providing healthcare solutions and service in Hong Kong.
Details of investment in UMP Healthcare Holdings have
been disclosed in the Company’'s annual reports in prior
years. Pursuant to the relevant accounting standards, the
Company has categorized the investment in UMP Healthcare
Holdings as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. As at December 31, 2021, the fair value of our
investment in UMP Healthcare Holdings was approximately
RMB65.3 million.

Future Plans for Material Investment or
Capital Assets

The Directors confirmed that, as at the date of this report,
there are currently no concrete plans to acquire any material
investment or capital assets other than those conducted in
the Group’s ordinary course of business.

EARE - WEBNHE  RRS
ERANREREBRSERTR
BEREBETEEAERERE

'/

EEeREMNAARBELGAEBREEESS
AERBIERERERINE - B E20215F12
A31H  AEEWEEREELREES% K
AEWBIERE  IASBEWESKEE -

HBRSBEEENRE
BABBEBATHIMER EMHAR (B
MRIE722.HK) - AR EEBIRHELEE
BHRMRS - BAREEBERERENKREH
BEEARBILATMFEREFHE - BIE
BAMEGER  ARREHBABKERK
BREDABURAAREBEFEEHEHT AR
FHEREE - R2021F128318 &1
HMEBBEEMSERENAABENAA
R#6,5308 7T °

AREAREREXREEE

EEMR - NARSE MY EER WS
TAEARENEAEE HBEASEAER
EHBEITERIN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The medical industry in China is generally large in scale with
high development potential. As patients crave for more
advanced medical technology and better consultation
experience, hospitals need to provide “more professional,
more effective and more economical” medical services. The
China Resources Group has been providing strong support to
CR Medical in light of the positive outlook of the medical
industry. During the first year of the 14th Five-Year plan,
after researches and review, CR Medical
formulated a clear development roadmap. We will remain
focused on our core business of provision of medical
services in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, Yangtze River
Delta and Greater
advantageous specialties and establishing academic specialty
hospital clusters. We will strive to develop regional leading
comprehensive hospitals and set up regional leading hospital
clusters. We will also strengthen boundary management
through reorganisation, member hospitals
through category authorisation and further enhance our
synergy with the China Resources Group. By providing
thoughtful services, we target to attract more patients to
our hospitals. We hope to achieve sustainable development
ecosystem and stable organic growth
through group management and efficient operation of the
value supply chain. We will also build up our competitive
advantages with the characteristics of China Resources
through a mature market mechanism and standardised
enterprise management. As an advocator of state-owned
hospital reform, we will take opportunities to acquire local
state-owned hospitals and inject high-quality medical
resources from the China Resources Group at opportune
times so as to realise external growth. With the corporate
“striving for public health”, CR Medical is
committed to becoming a leading healthcare group in China
as well as a pioneer in the reformation of the state-owned
healthcare industry.

numerous

Bay Area,

while strengthening our

revitalise our

of the medical

vision of

EEENWEDAN

HEBRTRERAERN ZERENS B
EBEREENBRERN BB E
B MERUEREIEEE FAM ¥
REINBERERY FEREEHBETEN
FHREH  UHEBRERREHEENE -
THAFRBZF EHBRERLBTEH N
7o fmEc BIET EAM B ER M -
BRABEFUNBERB /IR AU RZE
B R-ANMAERFEHEE  BEME
BEFER  ZRBMENEBLRE  EHER
B IR S BPRESE - Y RIS E S B AT
B BBAREERCERER EBOE
RERAKBBRNESN  WiE—FRSHE
EHEEERNGREME - BHAREEOE
BB ERY  WolEZMBENE - R
BEREELLERMEEEHERENSREE
2 BURBEEBERENARERRE
AEREE K » RIVBEBRAK T I5EH
ERBNERICEETEERRENGFE
2 ERBeBRMEARE  RAKIEE
WwHEEERNHERSE  TEERIEAE
BEANBEERER  INERRATH] - 3
EEERFAT /T KRREREINEERRE
i MO RERELHNERRFEEXSHE
METEREETRNFASRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

We adopt a prudent treasury management policy to maintain
a solid and healthy financial position. The Group funds its
operations principally from cash generated from its
operations and also bank facilities. Its cash requirements
relate primarily to operating activities, business expansion,
repayment of liabilities as they become due, capital
expenditures, interest and dividend payments.

As at December 31, 2021, the Group's consolidated bank
balances and cash, certificate of deposit and bank financial
products amounted to approximately RMB3.23 billion in total
(December 31, 2020: approximately RMB3.09 billion) which
were primarily in RMB.

As at December 31, 2021, the Group has obtained offshore
revolving term loan facility of HK$4.1 billion (or its
equivalent in U.S. dollar or Renminbi). Among which, HK$3.0
billion of the facilities is with no fixed term until further
notice by the corresponding bank, whilst the remaining
HK$1.1 billion is of the term of one year which shall be
automatically renewed if the relevant bank does not notify
otherwise. As at December 31, 2021, the Group had
interest-bearing bank borrowings of HK$933 million and
US$139 million (equivalent to approximately RMB1.65 billion
in total) (December 31, 2020: HK$799 million and RMB12
million (equivalent to approximately RMB684 million in
total)), and unutilized bank facilities of HK$2.09 billion
(equivalent to approximately RMB1.71 billion). As at
December 31, 2021, the Group's offshore bank borrowings
carried interests at floating rates and they would be due
within one year.

As at December 31, 2021, on the basis of interest-bearing
liabilities (excluding payables to hospitals sponsored by the
Group) divided by total assets, the Group’s gearing ratio
was 15.9% (December 31, 2020: 7.6%). In addition, the
carrying value of each of our wealth management products
as at December 31, 2021 did not exceed 5% of the Group’s
total asset value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group undertakes certain operating transactions in
foreign currencies, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk, mainly pertaining to the risk of fluctuations in
the Hong Kong dollar and U.S. dollar against RMB.

The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk. The management
risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates and considers

manages the currency

hedging against significant foreign exchange exposure
should such need arise.

We are also exposed to risk of talent shortage, so we have
been taking an active approach to attract, train and retain
sufficient qualified doctors, management personnel and other
medical staff members, otherwise the business of hospitals
affiliated to the Group would be affected to some degree.
Please refer to the paragraph headed
Discussion and Analysis — Employees and Remuneration
Policy” of this report for those measures mentioned above.

“Management

We also recognise that our relationship with patients and
partners is key to the resilient development of the Group.
We strive to provide qualified services and medical staffs
with extensive experiences to our patients. By leveraging on
sophisticated medical skills and equipment, we try our best
to cater to our patients’ needs for medical treatments. We
also cooperate with our partners to achieve the sustainable
development of our business.

As at December 31, 2021, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities or guarantees that would have a
material impact on the financial position or operations of the
Group.

As of December 31, 2021, the Group did not have any
material pledge of assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On February 14, 2022, Unison Champ (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and the general partner (the

“General Partner”) of CMH Healthcare Fund, L.P. (the
“CMH Fund”) entered into a letter agreement (the
“Withdrawal Letter”), pursuant to which Unison Champ

requested the General Partner to consent to its withdrawal
as a limited partner of the CMH Fund (the “Limited
Partner”) in whole from the CMH Fund (the “Withdrawal")
and cancellation of its entire interests in the CMH Fund (the
“Cancellation of Interests”) and the General Partner has
given its consent to the Withdrawal and the Cancellation of
Interests. With effect from the date of the Withdrawal
Letter: (i) the General Partner will effectuate the Withdrawal
and the Cancellation of Interests pursuant to the relevant
clause as set out in the corresponding limited partner
agreement; (i) Unison Champ will cease to be a Limited
Partner and will no longer be entitled to any rights of a
Limited Partner under the limited partner agreement; and (iii)
the General Partner will have no claims or rights of
whatsoever kind against Unison Champ, and not make
further drawdowns from Unison Champ. The CMH Fund has
not made any investment, and accordingly, no distribution
and/or other proceeds has been made or distributed to its
investors. As of the date of the Withdrawal Letter, other
than the debts and liabilities already incurred and owed by
the CMH Fund to third party service providers and agents,
there is no unliquidated debts and liabilities of the CMH
Fund. Pursuant to the Withdrawal Letter, Unison Champ
shall not be liable to any expenses, costs or fees incurred
exceeding its capital contribution in accordance with the
proportion of capital commitment to the CMH Fund
amounted to US$617,933. Unison Champ’'s capital
contribution which has not been used in the amount of
US$45,091 (the “Contribution to be returned”) will be
returned by the General Partner to Unison Champ within 30
days upon the date of the Withdrawal Letter (which has
already been settled as at the date of this report). Except
for the amount of the Contribution to be returned, there is
no other distribution or payment due and payable by the
CMH Fund to Unison Champ and no other liabilities and
obligations owed to the Unison Champ by the CMH Fund,
and Unison Champ is not entitled to any other payment
from the assets of the CMH Fund in respect of the
Withdrawal and/or the Cancellation of Interests. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated February 14,
2022 for further details of the abovementioned
arrangement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2021, the Group had a total of 8,454
fulltime employees (December 31, 2020: 4,903 employees).
For FY2021, the staff cost (including Directors’ remuneration
in the form of salaries and other benefits) was
approximately RMB1.18 billion (FY2020: RMB685 million).
The increase in number of staff as well as the
corresponding staff cost was mainly due to the acquisition
and/or consolidation of certain hospitals during the year.

The Group ensured that the remuneration packages of
employees remain competitive and the remuneration level of
its employees was determined on the basis of performance
with reference to the profitability of the Group, industry
remuneration standards and market conditions within the
general framework of the Group's remuneration system. The
Group has also adopted the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Scheme so as to provide incentives or rewards
to eligible participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
"MPF Scheme"”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The employees of the Group's
subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government (together with the MPF Scheme, the
"Defined Contribution Schemes”). These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme. The Group's employer contributions to the Defined
Contribution Schemes vest fully and immediately with the
employees when contributed into the schemes. Accordingly,
(i) for each of the two years ended December 31, 2021,
there was no forfeiture of contributions under the Defined
Contribution Schemes; and (i) there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing
level of contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes
as at December 31, 2021.

For the latest developments of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement
Dispute, please refer to the section headed "Directors’
Report — Yan Hua IOT Agreement Dispute” to this report.
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The Directors are pleased to present this report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is mainly engaged in the provision of general healthcare
hospital management services, and also group
purchasing organisation (i.e. “"GPO")
derived business from hospitals in Mainland China. Details of
the principal activities of the Company’'s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 50 to the consolidated

services,
business and other

financial statements.

A fair review of the business of the Group and a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties being faced by the
Group, as well as the business outlook of the Group
(including key performance indicators of future development
of the Group) are provided in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 10 to 29 of this annual report.
Relevant discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance for
the year ended December 31, 2021 and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position are provided in
the paragraph headed “Segment Results” under the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
18 to 20 and in the paragraph headed “Financial Review”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 26 to 27 of this annual report.

Significant events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report, if any, are set out in the paragraph
headed “Subsequent Events” on page 28 of this annual
report.
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As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group recognizes the
importance of good environmental stewardship. In this
connection, the Group has strictly adopted and implemented
policies and procedures to conduct environmental protection
work on a standard which is not less stringent than the
prevailing environmental laws and regulations of the PRC.
We believe that we were in compliance with all relevant
PRC laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
in all material respects during the year ended December 31,
2021 and as at the date of this Directors’
environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative

Report. No
sanctions were reported to our management.

The Group has formulated the “Hazardous Substances
Safety Management Plan” ((EEWEZ 2 EE512])) and the
“Medical Waste Management System” ({EEZEEEYE 12§
J£)) for all hospitals according to the relevant requirements
of the "“Environmental Protection Law of the People's
Republic of China” ((FZEARHEMEIIRIF(REE)). The above
systems focus on the management of hazardous substances
(containing hazardous chemicals and medical waste),
including storage location, container labelling, protection,
leakage handling and disposal in use. Hospitals conduct
supervisions and inspections mainly on storage and labelling
on hazardous chemicals and conclude the analysis results on
a quarterly basis. As required by the “Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Energy Conservation” ({1 Z A 4L H1
B &4 & JR)%)), the Group formulated the “Optimization
System of Resource Decision” ((ERAFRERFIE)), which
focuses on the management of resource decision-making
process and specifies the requirements on the quality,
reasonable allocation and use of newly procured resources.
The Group monitors the outcome of such decision upon its
implementation, and assesses the effectiveness and safety
by using relevant information and makes further decision so
as to ensure the effective implementation of the above
policies.
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Meanwhile, the Group has formulated the “Utilities Safety
Management Plan” ({(RR&EELEE R E])), “Safety and
Protection Management Plan” ((Z2#EETE])) and
“Medical Technology Safety Management Plan” (& & : i
ZEE 5 28l)), and passed the “Facility Safety
Management Plan” ((&iEZ2EETE])) to ensure the
effective implementation of the above plans. The Group has
formulated the “Radiation Safety Management Plan” ({H &}
Z2E1#51El)) and “Radiation Emergency Plan” (#8571 &=
f82)) for all hospitals, which focuses on the management
of radiation safety and specifies the requirements on all
radiation equipment, protection and radiation-related waste
treatment. Every year, qualified testing and rating agencies
are engaged to monitor the radiation level of all radiological
equipment and workplaces in the hospitals. Moreover, the
hospitals carry out drills against radiation accidents and
evaluate and conclude the responsiveness.

Details of the Group’s environmental, social and governance
measures will in the Group’s annual
sustainability report, be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company by May
31, 2022.

be covered
which  will

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief as at the date of this Directors’ Report, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group.

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable
while balancing the interests of our
stakeholders Substantial Shareholders,
employees, patients, customers, suppliers, business partners

and the community.

manner various

including our

An account of the Group’s relationship with its Substantial
Shareholders is included in the "Interests of Substantial
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and Underlying

Shares” set out on pages 47 to 48 of this annual report.
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The Group considers its employees as the key to
sustainable business growth. We are committed to providing
all employees a safe and harassment-free working
environment with equal opportunities in relation to
employment, remuneration management, training and career
development. incorporated

Corporate Responsibility Policy and Employment Policy.

This commitment is in our
Workplace safety is a priority of the Group that, with due
awareness of all employees throughout the year, the Group
was able to maintain a high standard of health and safety
measures in all company activities. We have in place a fair
and effective performance appraisal system and incentive
bonus schemes that are designed to motivate and reward
employees at all levels, which helps to deliver their best
performance and achieve business performance targets. For
talent acquisition and continuous development, the Group
offers training programs as well as leadership and talent
development programs for talents with different academic
backgrounds. The Group believes that direct and effective
communication is essential for good partnership built-up
between management and employees. The Group holds
regular
Company developments and obtain their feedbacks and

meetings and forums to brief employees on
suggestions.
As a patient-oriented healthcare services provider, we

patients as one of the most important
stakeholders. We are committed to serving our patients to

consider

the best of our ability and continually enhancing the level of
service excellence. The Group has embraced new media
platforms as an effective communication channel with our
patients to collect feedbacks and help us identify areas for
further improvement.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest ethical and
professional standards when dealing with suppliers and
contractors. To integrate CSR principles throughout our GPO
business, the Group has implemented the Group Purchasing
Policy and Principles, and a Supplier Code of Conduct to
facilitate a common means whereby we can better
communicate with our business partners regarding their
compliance with local regulations governing labor, health and
safety, and the environment. In order to have a better and
close monitoring of supplier performance, our procurement
department conduct supplier performance review annually
targeting our major suppliers and contractors, and will
communicate with the suppliers that have unsatisfactory
rating for rectification or improvements.
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The results of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income on pages 106 to 107 of this annual report.

The Board proposes to pay a final dividend of 12 HK cents
(equivalent to approximately RMB9.8 cents) per Share for
FY2021 (FY2020: final dividend: 8.82 HK cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB7.4 cents)). The proposed final dividend
will be payable to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on June 13, 2022
(Monday). Based on the number of Shares in issue of the
Company as of December 31, 2021, the total amount of
final dividends is approximately HK$156 million. Subject to
the approval by Shareholders at the annual general meeting
to be held on June 2, 2022 (Thursday), it is expected that
the final dividend will be distributed on or before July 19,
2022 (Tuesday).

The Group is not aware of any arrangement under which a
Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

According to the dividend policy of the Group, subject to
compliance with applicable rules and regulations (including
Cayman Islands laws) and the articles of association of the
Company, pay dividend to the
Shareholders when the Group recorded net profit during the
period and payment of dividend would not affect its normal
operation. The Company intends to share its profits with
in the form of annual dividend and the
be used for the Group's

the Company will

Shareholders
remaining net profits will
development and operations.

The Company’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the general financial condition of the
Group, the Group's current and future operations, liquidity
position and capital requirement of the Group as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries. The
payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws and articles
of association of the Company.
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The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed from time
to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Group
for the year ended December 31,
38 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

2021 are set out in note

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2021
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 110
and 111 of this annual report.

are set out in the

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or
Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company and provided
that immediately following the distribution or dividend, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

dividends to

As at December 31, 2021, the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB5,785,472,000 (as at December 31, 2020:
RMB5,877,796,000), subject to a solvency test, is available
for distribution to the Shareholders.

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment during the year ended December 31, 2021 are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and

non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five

financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
is set out on page 274 of this annual report.

This summary does not form part of the audited financial

statements,

statements.
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Details of the borrowings of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2021 in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

are set out

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’
Report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended December 31,
2021.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 18.1% (2020: 24.2%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 9.3% (2020: 13.2%) of the total sales.
Purchases from the Group’'s five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 19.1% (2020: 19.5%)
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 5.1% (2020:
5.9%) of the total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the
Directors nor any of their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital), had any direct or indirect interest in
the five largest customers or the five largest suppliers of
the Group during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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The articles of association of the Company provides that
every Director of the Company should be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which

he is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy
against potential legal liabilities and related expenses that
may be incurred by the Directors in the event of any
litigation.

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2021
and up to the date of this Directors’ Report are as follows:

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Cheng Libing (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Ren Yuan (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Shan Baojie (Appointed on December 30, 20217)

Ms. Fu Yanjun (Deputy President, resigned as a director on
December 30, 2021)

Mr. Wang Yan (Resigned on August 25, 2021)

Mr. Shan Baojie (Appointed as a non-executive director on
August 25, 2021 and redesignated as an executive
director on December 30, 2021)

Mr. Hu Hui (Appointed on December 30, 2021)

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with one another.
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The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 88 to
97 of this annual report. Save as disclosed, there are no
other changes to the Directors’ information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Each of the service agreements/letters of appointment of
the Directors can be terminated by either party giving to the
other party not less than one month notice in writing.

Pursuant to the letters of appointment, each of Mr. Wu Ting
Yuk Anthony, Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong, Mr. Lee Kar Chung
Felix and Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy is entitled to an annual
director’s fee of HK$300,000.

None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into or
intends to enter into a service contract with any member of
our Group which is not terminable by the employer within
one year without payment of compensation (other than the
statutory compensation).

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals in the Group and remuneration
payable to members of senior management by band are set
out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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The remuneration of the Directors is subject to review of
the Remuneration Committee and approval by the Board,
such remuneration is determined by taking into account of
the relevant Director’'s experience, responsibilities, workload
and time commitment to the Group and the operating
results of the Group and comparable market statistics.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company believes that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Mr. Song Qing is a director and the chairman of the board
of CR Healthcare (the controlling shareholder of the
Company), Mr. Cheng Libing is a director and the vice-
chairman of the board of CR Healthcare, and Mr. Shan
Baojie is the vice general manager of CR Healthcare. CR
Healthcare is committed to the long-term development of
China’'s medical and healthcare services, actively participates
in China’'s medical system reform, and proactively explores
and involves in the investment, operation and management
of hospitals and healthcare industries in the PRC. In addition
to being the single largest shareholder of the Company, CR
Healthcare also operates and manages a number of medical
institutions in certain provinces of China including Liaoning,
Jiangxi, Yunnan and Guangdong and Guangxi, etc.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as of December
31, 2021, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or
business of the Group.

may compete with the
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or its Associated Corporations

As of December 31, 2021, the interests/short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are
deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) to be entered into the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares of the
Company

Capacity/ Long position/

Name of Director Nature of interest short position

Ry e

50/ HmtE

R/ KR

Song Qing Beneficial owner Long position
N EnEaA TRE
Cheng Libing Beneficial owner Long position
D AvE=S EREAA Sy}
Ren Yuan Beneficial owner Long position
iz EnEEA e
Wu Ting Yuk, Beneficial owner Long position
Anthony
HAE 1B EnEEA e

Note: This includes also the long positions of the Award Shares, which have been
declared to be granted by the Company to the corresponding Directors on
August 31, 2018 and a portion of which has been vested.

EERBEITBRAERAQAE
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RIRESTRIZB A S AN R &) KB P 2 (4
W/ KRBT

RAERTRBINER

Number of Approximate

ordinary shares percentage of

(Note) shareholding
TR RN BB

(fizE) FRBAOB S

%

400,000 0.03

1,774,746 0.14

300,000 0.02

1,000,000 0.08
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2021, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31,

of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

The Company has conditionally adopted the Share Option
Scheme as of September 30, 2013.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
incentivize or reward the Eligible Participants (defined
below) for their contribution or potential contribution to

the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, the Board
may grant options to any full-time or part-time
employees, potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries at its sole

consultants or

discretion and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents and advisers who, in the absolute discretion of
the Board, has contributed or will contribute to our
Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from September 30, 2013,
after which time no further option will be granted but
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force, and effective in all other respects
to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto and other rights as
may be required in accordance with the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme and options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 83,376,300 Shares, being 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Listing Date (with the over-allotment option fully
exercised), which is also the total number of Shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme as
at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to any grantee
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant, shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue.
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An offer of a grant shall remain open for acceptance
by the Eligible Participant for a period of 14 days from
the date of offer, provided that no such offer shall be
open for acceptance after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An option shall be
deemed as has been granted to (subject to certain
restrictions in the Share Option Scheme), and accepted
by, the Eligible Participant (the “Grantee”) and taken
effect upon the issuance of an exercise notice, if the
Company receives a copy of the offer document
(including the document for the acceptance of share
option) duly signed by the grantee (the "Offer
Document”), together with a remittance in favor of our
Company in the amount of HK$1.00 in consideration
for the granting of the option on or before the last
date for acceptance. The remittance is not refundable
under any circumstances and shall be deemed as
payment of part of the exercise price. Once accepted,
the option is taken as granted from the date of offer
to the relevant Grantee.

There is no general requirement that an option must
be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised. The period during which an option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme (the "Option Period”) shall be the
period of time to be notified by our Board to each
Grantee as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, save that such period shall not exceed 10
years from the commencement date of the vesting
period as stated in the respective Grantee's Offer
Document.
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The price per share for subscription by a Grantee
pursuant to the exercise of share options (the
"Exercise Price”) shall be determined by the Board,
but in any event shall not be lower than the highest
of:

()  the official closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets
on the date an option is offered (the "Offer
Date”);

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the Shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, no share
option had been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled
or lapsed and there is no outstanding share option
under the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of
the Share Option Scheme is 1 year and 6 months.

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme as a
means to recognise the contribution of and provide
incentives for the key management personnel including
Directors and senior management, employed experts and
core employees of the Group. The Share Award Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 vyears
commencing from July 7, 2014 (the "Adoption Date"”) on
which the Board adopted the Share Award Scheme and is
administrated by the Board and the trustee of the Share
Award Scheme.
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In order to provide more flexibility in the administration and
implementation of the Share Award Scheme, the Board
resolved on May 25, 2015 to make amendments to the
terms of the Share Award Scheme and the scheme rules,
having retrospective effect from the Adoption Date, to the
effect that the Board may, from time to time, in its absolute
discretion, determine if the Award Shares shall be granted
to a Selected Participant with or without payment of a price
per Award Share payable by the Selected Participant (the
"Grant Price”) which shall be notified by the Board to each
Selected Participant. In determining whether the Selected
Participant shall pay a Grant Price for the Award Shares and
the amount of the Grant Price, as the case may be, the
Board shall take into consideration matters, including but not
limited to the Selected Participant’'s position, experience,
years of service, performance and contribution to the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or associated entities.

The Board also resolved on August 31, 2018 to make
further amendments to the terms of the Share Award
Scheme to the effect that the maximum number of the
Award Shares, which have been and to be awarded by the
Board throughout the duration of the scheme, to be revised
to 5% of the total number of issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of the abovementioned resolution
and the maximum number of the Award Shares to each of
the Selected Participants to be revised to 1% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the date of the
abovementioned resolution.

The Board will implement the Share Award Scheme in
accordance with the scheme rules. The Company shall
comply with the relevant Listing Rules when granting the
Award Shares.

Since the Adoption Date of Share Award Scheme and up to
December 31, 2021, an aggregate of 32,212,216 Award
Shares have been granted pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme subject to certain vesting criteria and conditions.

As of December 31, 2021, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares which would
fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered into the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company.
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Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

PR & 7 0/ fEmtE

China Resources Company Interest of a controlled

Limited corporation
FEZERHFRAA REAE R
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Interest of a controlled

Group, Inc. corporation
—ZBBemEE LB R

L: Long position
Notes:

1. (1) 463,681,516 of these shares are directly held by CRH (Medical) Limited.
CRH (Medical) Limited is wholly owned by China Resources Healthcare
Group Limited. China Resources Healthcare Group Limited is wholly
owned by CRH (Healthcare) Limited. CRH (Healthcare) Limited is wholly
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited is wholly owned by CRC Bluesky Limited.
CRC Bluesky Limited is wholly owned by China Resources Inc., which is
wholly owned by China Resources Company Limited; and (2) 10,638,000
of these shares are directly held by Commotra Company Limited which is

wholly owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

2. Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. is the sole shareholder of Mitsubishi
UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation whilst the latter is directly holding the
entire shareholding interest in Carol Australia Holdings Pty Limited. Carol
Australia Holdings Pty Limited (via its wholly-owned subsidiary First State
Investment Managers (Asia) Limited) held the entire interest in First State
Investments (Hong Kong) Limited and the latter directly held 77,645,666

Shares (representing 5.98% of the issued shares of the Company).

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2021, the
Directors were not aware of any person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an
interest or a short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held shareholding
ARG E A HRBAB ST
%

474,319,5616(L)" 36.58

77,645,666(L)? 5.98

1. (1 E%5463,681,516RMHMAEBER (BE)E
BAREERFE EHEE(BR) AR ARIHREN
BEEEERARNZERE EHREEEERA
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Save as the details as set out in the paragraphs headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or its Associated Corporations”, “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme” in this Directors’
Report, at no time during the year ended December 31,
2021 has any right to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate been granted to Directors or their
respective spouse or children under the age of 18, and
none of any such right has been exercised by them; and
none of the Company and any of its subsidiaries has been a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their
respective spouse or children under the age of 18, to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

On June 25, 2021, Beijing Yisheng Yongxin Medical
Equipment Co., Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as vendor, and the Nanning Yuenianhua
Rehabilitation Hospital entered into the medical equipment
procurement agreement, pursuant to which, the former shall
sell various medical equipment to the hospital for
RMB13,374,600 (value-added tax inclusive).

CR Holdings is the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Land is a subsidiary of CR Holdings; while the
Nanning Yuenianhua Rehabilitation Hospital is a subsidiary of
CR Land, it is therefore a connected person of the
Company.

On November 17, 2021, Wugang Hospital under the Group
and Runjia Property Service (Wuhan) Co. Ltd. (@ wholly-
owned subsidiary of CR Mixc) (as service provider) entered
into a property services agreement, pursuant to which the
latter shall provide property management services, including
cleaning, security and fire safety control, to Wugang
Hospital for a term of one year at a fee of approximately
RMB5.5 million (value added tax inclusive).
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CR Holdings is the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Mixc is a subsidiary of CR Holdings; while Runjia
Property Service (Wuhan) Co. Ltd. is a subsidiary of CR
Mixc, it is therefore a connected person of the Company.

The Company and CR Holdings entered into the
pharmaceuticals, medical device and medical consumables
supply framework agreement on November 7, 2019 (the
“CR PMM Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the CR
PMM Framework Agreement, CR Holdings may, through its
subsidiaries, supply PMM items to the Group and its
sponsored hospitals from time to time. The Group and its
sponsored hospitals may place purchase orders for PMM
items with CR Holdings or its subsidiaries from time to time
and CR Holdings or its subsidiaries may sell the products to
the Group and its sponsored hospitals at a price in
accordance with the agreed pricing policy. The details of
each purchase order, including price, payment terms and
delivery arrangement, are to be separately agreed in
accordance with the principles laid down in the CR PMM
Framework Agreement. The annual caps for the purchase of
PMM items under the CR PMM Framework Agreement for
the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and the
financial year ending December 31, 2022 are RMB1.00
billion, RMB1.14 billion and RMB1.40 billion, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the amount of
the purchase orders under the CR PMM Framework
Agreement paid/payable by the Group was RMB396 million.

CR Holdings is a controlling shareholder and a connected
person of the Company.
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The Company and CR Bank entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement (the "“CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement”) on November 7, 2019. Pursuant
to the CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement, the Group
and its sponsored hospitals may place deposits with CR
Bank and use other financial services and products of CR
Bank, including (but not limited to) the provision of letters of
credit, guarantee, loans with collaterals, bill of exchange and
discount services, assignment of receivables, RMB and
foreign exchange settlement, entrusted loans and collaterals,
financial and cash management services, financial advisory
services and other financial services and products as agreed
by the parties.

The Company and CR Trust entered into a strategic
(the "CR Trust Strategic
Cooperation Agreement”) on November 7, 2019. Pursuant
to the CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement, the Group
and its sponsored hospitals may use the services and
products provided by CR Trust, including (but not limited to)
cash management, asset management, custodian trust loan
services, assignment of receivables, advisory services in

cooperation agreement

relation to redemptory monetary capital for sale, and other
financial or trust services and products as agreed by the
parties.
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The annual caps under CR Bank Strategic Cooperation IZRRERHIRITERS A 1B & MBS TER
Agreement & CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement for & {EH=E FNE £20229F12A318 1t =@
the three financial years ending December 31, 2022 are set MBEE 2 FE LRFHFIMT

out as follows:

For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ending
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 YAVVA 2022
B E20206F BE20214 BE20226F
12H31H 12H31H 12H318
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
(AREBET) (AREBET) (AREBET)
Maximum daily deposit FHREBRTT 400 400 400
amount placed with HEAZRT
CR Bank (inclusive of REB(BE
interest receivable) Mol FE WA B
Maximum daily principal BHREHRTR 400 400 400
amount and interest in ERETHT
relation to financial PATR (10 & R
products to be provided EnfEAK
by CR Bank and CR BAEEER
Trust Motel R )
Maximum service fees and  ZEHIRTT K EH 8 8 8
commissions for other E5EH8 FLALR
financial products and TRt
services to be provided Em R R R
by CR Bank and CR mmRBER
Trust ik
Note: The above maximum daily deposit amount or daily principal amount and 3 : LillEARSGERLBENEALALLELANEER
interest is applicable for each day during the relevant period, and is REEBEENE—H  WIRESAERENHBEZ —
calculated on an individual basis remaining as of the end of each day, e BTHEHpI—BAEENSHEAHITE -

without aggregating the amount incurred on the days before.

In 2021, the actual highest amount of the Group and the 20214 @ NEBLERERETBERES
Sponsored Hospitals’ daily deposit balance (inclusive of (BIEEUWHIE) MABERFRITE FIRED
interest receivable) and daily principal amount and interest in £ RIELHNEBEALSELNEEE SRS S
relation to financial products to be provided by CR Bank ZEDRIAAREI4ETLEARKOLET -
amounted to RMB334 million and RMB50 million, #20214 @ BEFEHFETIRENEMGESRE
respectively. In 2021, the service fees and commissions for FMEBRENRBERALAZ -

other financial products and services provided by CR Bank

were nil.
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In 2021, the Group and the Sponsored Hospitals did not
have any balance of financial products provided by CR Trust.
In 2021, the service fees and commissions for other
financial products and services provided by CR Trust were
nil.

CR Holdings is a controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Bank and CR are subsidiaries of CR Holdings,
therefore both of them are connected persons of the
Company.

CR Finance Lease Cooperation Agreement

The Company and CR Leasing entered into a cooperation
agreement on November 7, 2019 (the “Finance Lease
Cooperation Agreement”), and pursuant to which the
Group may use general finance lease services (“Finance
Lease Services"”), factoring services and related consultancy
services ("Other Financial Services”) provided by CR
Leasing. The annual caps for certain services under the
Finance Lease Cooperation Agreement for the three financial
years ending December 31, 2022 are as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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R20215F - NREE R BRI EEATHE
BEFERMA S RE MRS ° 1020214
BEREBERE‘RNEMDSRE R MR

EHEBAANRRZERR - mERHRT
MEREFER/EBEEZMBE AR ®INME
RARBZBBEAL -

EHHEHESIFlZ

R2019F 1M A7H - ARREFEBPBEER L
Az ((MEHRESERSE]) MAEE]
Bt REBEEREN — R EHERS
((MERERK]) mERERY MAABE
ARG (RS mRE ) - mEHESER
EIETNEE2022F12A31B =AM K F
ERBERFELRAT :

The maximum aggregate MEHRERY 200 200 200
amount of the general R= B
finance lease services
Maximum commission and/  EtE S R 13 13 13
or service fees in relation HBENEE
to general finance lease %/ SRBE
services
Maximum commission and/ £ fth & gt R 7% 28 28 28
or service fees for HENEE
factoring services and %/ kiR B
related consultancy
services
ERBEERERAT —T - —F4

For the

year ended
December 31,
2020

H %2020
12A31H
(RMB million)
(ANREBET)

For the

year ended
December 31,
2021
BZ=20214F
12A31H
(RMB million)
(NREBRET)

For the

year ending
December 31,
2022
BZ=2022%F
12A31H
(RMB million)
(NREBRET)
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The commission and/or services fees to be paid by the
Company to CR Leasing in relation to the Finance Lease
Services and Other Financial Services to be provided under
the Finance Lease Cooperation Agreement should be
determined at arm’s length negotiation between the parties
with reference to the prevailing market prices for
comparable services, after taking into account various
factors, such as finance costs and normal market rate. Such
commission and/or services fees shall not be less favourable
than those offered for other independent customers by CR

Leasing.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, (i) the aggregate
amount of Finance Lease Services of RMB6 million was
utilised by the Group; (i) the commission and/or service
fees in relation to Finance Lease Services were nil; and (iii)
the commission and/or service fees in relation to Other
Financial Services were nil.

CR Holdings is a controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Leasing, as a subsidiary of CR Holdings, is therefore
a connected person of the Company.

On September 17, 2020, the Company and CR
Pharmaceutical (“together with its subsidiaries, the "“CR
Pharmaceutical Group”) entered
framework agreement (the "“Supply Chain Cooperation
Framework Agreement”) and pursuant to which the Group
shall Group Supply Chain
Management Services of medical supplies in relation to
establishment of regional platforms and streamlining of
supply chain management procedures in order to improve
the efficiency of supply chain management of medical
supplies of CR Pharmaceutical Group and reduce the
corresponding costs. The Group shall receive management
Group for the

into the cooperation

provide CR Pharmaceutical

service fees from CR Pharmaceutical
abovementioned services.
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The annual caps
Framework Agreement for the two financial years ended
December 31, 2021 and the financial year ending December
31, 2022 are RMB30 million, RMB50 million and RMB70

million, respectively.

under the Supply Chain Cooperation

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the amount of
management service fee income under the Supply Chain
Cooperation Framework Agreement receivable by the Group
was nil.

CR Holdings is a controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Pharmaceutical, as a subsidiary of CR Holdings, is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

On March 12, 2021, Hubei Runkang Healthcare
Management Co., Ltd. (“Hubei Runkang”, an
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Shenzhen
Runtou Consulting Co., Ltd.
Consulting”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CR
Land) entered into the Hospital Management Agreement and
pursuant to which Shenzhen Runtou Consulting (as the
principal) shall appoint Hubei Runkang as the manager to
provide comprehensive operation and management services
for the Yuenianhua Rehabilitation (the
“Rehabilitation Hospital”) which include the introduction of
management and operation systems by Hubei Runkang,
building management team of the hospital, and the
introduction of various resources such as hospital brand and
medical technology. It shall also rely on the medical and
technical
disciplines of the Rehabilitation Hospital. The term shall
commence from March 12, 2021 to December 31, 2023
(both dates inclusive), a period of approximately 2 years and
10 months. Under the same terms, priority shall be given to
the Group to renew the Hospital Management Agreement.
During the preparation period, Hubei Runkang shall charge a
fixed monthly fee of RMB450,000 which should be settled
by Shenzhen Runtou Consulting by the 11th date of the
next month. If it is less than one month, such fee shall be
charged on a pro rata basis. The first installment of such fee
should be paid on or before 5 working days from the
effective date of the Hospital
Starting from the official opening of the Rehabilitation
Hospital, the service fee shall then be settled by the

indirect

(“"Shenzhen Runtou

Hospital

resources of the Group

in enhancing various

Management Agreement.
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Rehabilitation Hospital itself. The service fee comprises
three components: (1) the fixed fee of RMB3.5 million per
annum; (2) the income related fee which is equivalent to
6% of the target income of Rehabilitation Hospitals, and
adjusted by a certain percentage according to the deviation
from the target (there could be wupward or
downward adjustments); and (3) the operating profit related
caps in
contemplated under the Hospital Management Agreement
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 and the two
fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 are RMB5,050,000,
RMB9,400,000 and RMB17,230,000, respectively. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, the transaction amount

income

fee. The annual respect of transactions

under the mentioned agreement was RMB4 million.

CR Holdings is the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Land is a subsidiary of CR Holdings;
Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Hospital is a subsidiary of CR
Land, it is therefore a connected person of the Company.

while

On November 22, 2021, China Resources Hospital
Management & Consulting Co. Ltd. (“CR Hospital
Management”, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company)
and Resolink Software System (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.
("Resolink Software”, a wholly owned subsidiary of CR
Holdings) (with Resolink Software representing the Resolink
Companies (i.e. Resolink Software, Guangdong Resolink
Information Technology Co. Ltd., Resolink Smart Technology
(Xi'an) Co. Ltd. and their subsidiaries), and all of them as
service providers) entered into the Information Technology
Services Framework Agreement (for the term from the date
of the agreement to December 31, 2022). The Resolink
Companies shall provide the relevant information technology
services to the Group and its sponsored hospitals pursuant
to the Information Technology Services Framework
Agreement. The Resolink Companies shall provide
information technology services to the Group and its
Sponsored Hospitals during the term of the agreement,
including information technology operation and maintenance
services and information technology service for specific
projects. The Group and its Sponsored Hospitals shall pay
service fees to the corresponding Resolink Companies for
the information technology services based on the pricing of
each specific service as agreed by both parties. The service
fees shall be calculated by multiplying the actual volume of
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services with the unit price of the corresponding services.
The corresponding annual information
technology services as provided by the Resolink Companies

to the Group and its sponsored hospitals (including the

caps of the

services to be provided under the Information Technology
Services Framework Agreement since the signing date) for
the two vyears ending December 31, 2022 are
RMB4,000,000 and RMB10,000,000, respectively. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, the transaction amount
under the mentioned agreement was RMB3 million.

CR Holdings is the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and the Resolink Companies are subsidiaries of CR
Holdings, they are therefore connected persons of the
Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical
Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
issued his unqualified letter containing his
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in pages 49
to b4 of this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules.

Financial Information” and with reference to

auditor has
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that for the year ended December 31, 2021:

(i)  these transactions were entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) these transactions were entered into either on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties;

(i)  these transactions were entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that were fair
in the interests of the

and reasonable and

Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, none of the related-party
transactions or continuing related-party transactions set out
in such note fall within the scope of discloseable connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules.
transactions of the Group are
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

The connected and continuing connected
in compliance with the

Rules.
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On January 21, 2019, the Company received a letter from
Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital to unilaterally
terminate the Yan Hua IOT Agreement with effect from
January 21, 2019. On April 17, 2019, the Group has
submitted the civil claim statement against Yan Hua Phoenix
and Yan Hua Hospital in relation to the Yan Hua I0T
Agreement dispute to Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court on the even date to seek the court’s ruling that the
unilateral termination of Yan Hua IOT Agreement by Yan
Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital on January 21, 2019
shall be void and that Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua
Hospital should be liable for damages for breach of the Yan
Hua IOT Agreement. On December 18, 2019, the Beijing
Second Intermediate People’s Court handed down the civil
judgment ([2019] Jing 02 Minchu No0.304) and the major
details are as follows: (1) the unilateral termination of Yan
Hua IOT Agreement by Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua
Hospital is declared to be void and that the parties shall
continue to perform its obligations under the Yan Hua IOT
Agreement; (2) the amount of RMB14,400,000, being the
damages for breach of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement, is to be
paid by Yan Hua Phoenix to CR Hospital Management &
Consulting; (3) reliefs sought by CR Hospital
Management & Consulting shall be dismissed; and (4) other
counterclaims of Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital
shall be dismissed. In January 2020, Yan Hua Phoenix and
Yan Hua Hospital filed an appeal on the Original Judgment

other

to Beijing Higher People’s Court, and the relevant court
hearing was held on October 26, 2020. On November 22,
2021, the Beijing Higher People’s Court handed down a civil
judgment (2020 Jing Minzhong No.110) which rejects the
abovementioned appeal filed by Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan
Hua Hospital and upholds the Original Judgment, and
adjudged that such ruling shall be final. The Company will
use its best endeavours and take all appropriate actions to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
announcement in

The Company will make further

accordance with the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

Please refer to the announcements published by the
Company on January 15, 2019, January 21, 2019, April 17,
2019 and November 23, 2021 for more details.
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No Director nor any connected entity of a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the holding company of
the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party at any time during the year
ended December 31, 2021.

In addition to certain continuing connected transactions
which has been disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” to this report, (1) on May 23, 2019, CR
Hospital Management & Consulting (a subsidiary of the
Company) as lessee and the Fengtai branch of China
Resources Land Hongjing (Beijing) Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (EHEMLR (ER)FHEREERATNEEGI R
A]) (@ branch company of a subsidiary of CR Land) as lessor
entered into a lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) in
relation to the lease of the 14th floor of China Resources
Kunlun Center Office Building, No. 5, Courtyard No. 9, Fuyi
Street, Fengtai District, Beijing, with a total leasable floor
area of 2,225.38 sg. m. for use as the Group's office from
June 1, 2019 to May 31, 2024. Pursuant to the Lease
Agreement, the rent for the period from June 1, 2019 to
May 31, 2022 is RMB393,246.90 (including value-added tax
calculated at 9% and excluding utility charges) per month,
and for the period from June 1, 2022 to May 31, 2024, a
sum of RMB405,063.67 (including value-added tax calculated
at 9% and excluding utility charges and property
management fees) per month. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated May 23, 2019;
and (2) Unison Champ (a subsidiary of the Company) has
also entered into the subscription agreement with CMH
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Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd. in relation to the Group's
investment to the CMH Fund on September 19, 2019.
Pursuant to which, the proposed capital commitment of the
Group shall amount to US$40 million, and the CMH Fund
intends to raise a total of US$1 billion. The CMH Fund's
primary investment objective is to generate attractive risk-
adjusted returns by investing in companies that are active in
the healthcare sector and assisting their expansion globally.
Unison Champ shall appoint the General Partner as its
attorney to sign the limited partnership agreement on its
behalf. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated September 19, 2019. For the
developments of aforesaid fund, please refer to the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Subsequent Events — Withdrawal from CMH Fund” to this
report.
Shareholders or its subsidiary had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether
for the provision of services or otherwise, to the business of

latest

Save for the aforementioned, no Controlling

the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Other than the service contracts or letters of appointment
with the Directors, the Company has not entered into any
contract with any individuals, firms or corporate entities to
manage or regulate the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company during the year ended December
31, 2021.
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The Company established the Audit Committee and
formulated the Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings
(EE@zE#HA)) of the Company in accordance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on November 4,
2013. Its primary responsibilities include serving as a focal
point for communication among other Directors, the external
auditor and the internal auditor (where an internal audit
function exists) as regards their duties relating to financial
and other reporting, risk management and internal controls,
external and internal audits and such other financial and
accounting matters as the Board determines from time to
time, assisting the Board in providing an independent review
on the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
overseeing the audit procedure,
financial and accounting policies and practices and
performing other duties and responsibilities as designated by
the Board.

reviewing the Group's

As at December 31, 2021 and up to the publication date of
this annual report, the Audit Committee currently comprises
one non-executive Director, Mr. Hu Hui and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong
Kwok Kong (Chairman of the Committee) and Ms. Chiu Kam
Hing Kathy. The Audit Committee, together with the
management of the Company, has reviewed the accounting
principles, accounting standards and methods adopted by
the Company, discussed the matters concerning risk
management and internal control, auditing and financial
reporting matters and reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2021.
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The Company established the Remuneration Committee and
formulated the Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings
((EEE=#EA))) of the Company in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on November 4,
2013. The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible
for: (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of Directors and senior management; and (iii)
reviewing and evaluating the performance-based
remuneration and ensure that no Directors or any of his

associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

As at December 31, 2021 and up to the publication date of
this annual report, the Remuneration Committee currently
consisted of one executive Director, Ms. Ren Yuan, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chiu Kam
Hing Kathy (Chairman of the Committee) and Mr. Lee Kar
Chung Felix.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
November 4, 2013. The Nomination Committee is mainly
responsible for: (i) identifying individuals suitably qualified as
potential making
recommendation to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (i) reviewing the structure, size

Board members and selecting or

and diversity of the Board and the required skill mix as well
as making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to ensure the implementation of the Company’s
strategic goal; (iii) independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) reviewing the
qualification of senior management nominated by the Chief

assessing the

Executive Officer, reported to the Board for consideration
and adoption.

As at December 31, 2021 and up to the publication date of
this annual report, the Nomination Committee consisted of
one executive Director, Mr. Song Qing (Chairman of the
Committee), and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix and Mr. Kwong Kwok
Kong.
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
being the jurisdiction the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new

in which

Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as rules governing
dealings by Directors in the listed securities of the
Company.

Having made specific enquiry, the Company confirmed that
all members of the Board complied with the Model Code
during the year ended December 31, 2021.
managers, executives and officers who, because of their
offices in the Company, may possess inside information of
the Company, they shall comply with the provision of the
Model Code. To the best knowledge of the Company, no
incident of non-compliance to the Model Code has been
committed by such employees during the vyear
December 31, 2021.

As senior

ended

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
general meeting to be held on Thursday,
2,2022, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, May 30, 2022 to Thursday, June 2,
2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify as members
entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting,
investors should lodge all transfers of shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificates with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Friday, May 27, 2022.

annual June
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For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, June 9, 2022 to Monday, June 13,
2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
registered.
entitlement to the proposed final dividend, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must

shares will be In order to qualify for the

be lodged with the Company’'s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Wednesday, June
8, 2022.

The 2021 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each
Shareholder in HK$ unless an election is made to receive
the same in RMB. Shareholders will be given the option to
elect to receive all (but not part) of the 2021 Final Dividend
in RMB at the average benchmark exchange rate of HK$ to
RMB as published by the People’s Bank of China during the
five business days ending on June 2, 2022 (inclusive), being
the date of the Annual General Meeting. To make such
election, Shareholders should complete the Dividend
Currency Election Form, which is expected to be
despatched to Shareholders in late June 2022 as soon as
practicable after the record date of Monday, June 13, 2022
to determine Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
2021 Final Dividend, and return it to the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4: 30 p.m. on Thursday, July 7, 2022. Shareholders who are
minded to elect to receive all (but not part) of the 2021
Final Dividend in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they
should ensure that they have an appropriate bank account to
which the RMB cheques for dividend can be presented for
payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB cheques
can be cleared without material handling charges or delay in
Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be honoured for
payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The
cheques are expected to be posted to the
Shareholders by ordinary post on Tuesday, July 19, 2022 at
the Shareholders’ own risk.

relevant
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If no election is made by a Shareholder or no duly
completed Dividend Currency Election Form in respect of
that Shareholder is received by the Company's branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, by 4: 30 p.m. on Thursday, July 7, 2022,
such Shareholder will automatically receive the 2021 Final

Dividend in HK$.

All dividend payments in HK$ will be made in the usual way
on Tuesday, July 19, 2022. If Shareholders wish to receive
the 2021
additional

Final Dividend in HK$ in the usual way, no
required. Shareholders should seek
professional advice from their own tax advisors regarding

action is

the possible tax implications of the proposed dividend
payment.

The full text of the Corporate Governance Report is set out
on pages 68 to 87 of this annual report.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

Based on the information publicly available and to the best
of the Board's knowledge,
Company has always maintained sufficient public float as at
the date of this annual report.

information and belief, the

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.
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Please refer to the paragraph headed “Subsequent Event(s)”
under the section headed
Analysis” on page 28 of this annual report.

“Management Discussion and

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on May
30, 2019, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the
auditor of the Company and Messrs. Ernst & Young was
appointed as the auditor of the Company. At the annual
general meeting of the Company held on May 28, 2020,
Messrs. Ernst & Young was reappointed as the auditor of
the Company.

The Company has appointed Messrs. Ernst & Young as the
auditor of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2021.

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting and is eligible to stand
for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board
Song Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 25, 2022
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The Company confirms that it has complied with all material
code provisions of CG Code (the version as of December
31, 2021) during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The Company will review and commit in making necessary
arrangement to comply with all the code provisions under
the CG Code and the rising expectations of Shareholders
and investors.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
“Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

Company by the Directors.

Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors complied with the
Model Code during the year ended December 31, 2021.
Senior management, executives and staff who, because of
their offices in the Company, are likely to possess inside
information, have also been requested to comply with the
provision of the Model Code and the Company confirmed
that there was no incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by such employees during the year ended December
31, 2021.

Having made specific enquiry with all
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The Directors are accountable to all Shareholders for their
leadership and supervision over the Group’s operation, and
are committed to achieving the goal of
Shareholders’ value.

increasing

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised
nine Directors, including four executive Directors, one non-
and four

executive Director independent non-executive

Directors, and composition of Board are as follows:

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Cheng Libing (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Ren Yuan (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Shan Baojie (Appointed on December 30, 20217)

Ms. Fu Yanjun (Deputy President, resigned as a director on
December 30, 2021)

Mr. Wang Yan (Resigned on August 25, 2021)

Mr. Shan Baojie (Appointed as a non-executive director on
August 25, 2021 and redesignated as an executive
director on December 30, 2021)

Mr. Hu Hui (Appointed on December 30, 2021)

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix

None of the members of the Board is related to one
another.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 88
to 97 of this annual report. The list of the Directors (by
category) is also disclosed in all of the corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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2021, the Board
complied at all times with the requirements of the Listing
relating to the appointment of at
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least

During the year ended December 31,

Rules least three
one-third of the Board), of which at least one Director has
appropriate professional qualifications, or
related financial management expertise.

accounting or

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of
the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
the non-

During the vyear ended December 31,

executive Directors

2021,
(including independent non-executive
Directors) brought a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and judgement to the Board. Through
active participation at Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and
serving on Board committees, all

Directors have made various contributions to the effective

the non-executive

development of the Company.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
to protect Directors from possible legal action against them.

The Board is responsible for the performance of the
functions of corporate governance.
December 31, 2021, the Board has performed the functions
set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code (the version
2021).

For the year ended

as of December 31,

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company is Mr. Cheng Libing, and Mr. Wu
Ting Yuk, Anthony was the chairman of the Board, he then
resigned as the chairman and Mr. Song was redesignated
as the chairman on April 23, 2021. The Company has
complied with Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (the
version as of December 31, 2021) which stipulates that the
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive should not be
performed by the same individual.
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Under the the Board is
responsible for the approval and supervision of the Group's
general development strategy, the review and approval of
the annual budget and business plans,

leadership of the Chairman,

the consent of
material investment projects related to the Group's business
development, the review on the Group's performance and
the supervision of the work of the management, and
ensures that the Board acts in the best interests of the
Group, operates effectively and performs the necessary
duties, as well as discusses all the significant and
appropriate issues of the Group’s business in a timely
the Directors are entitled to propose the

inclusion of any item in the agenda of the Board meetings

manner. All

for appropriate discussion. The Chairman has appointed the
secretary of the meeting to draft the Board meetings’
agendas. Under the assistance of the executive Directors
and the secretary of the Board, the Chairman will ensure
that all the Directors are provided with sufficient and reliable
information

in a timely manner required for necessary

analysis based on their expertise.

The Chief Executive Officer
authority for the operation and management of the Group’s

has delegated sufficient
business to the executive Directors and other senior
who are
in every aspect, including
implementation of the Board's resolutions unanimously, and
be accountable to the Chief Executive Officer for the

management members, in-charge of the daily

management of the Group

operations of various aspects of the Group's business, while
the Chief Executive Officer shall be accountable to the
Board for the Group’s operations as a whole.

The responsibilities of the Board are as follows:

(a)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior

management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’'s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

EEERRE
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(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In order to enhance its corporate governance structure, the
Company has formulated the “Rules and Procedures for
Board Meetings”. The “Rules and Procedures for Board
Meetings"” specifies that the CEO Management Meeting is
composed of executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer and
Deputy President, all being called together by the Chief
Executive Officer. As the approval organization for the
Company's daily operational management, the committee is
responsible for organizing and managing the Company’s
daily operations and accountable to the Board.

According to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code (the
version as of December 31, 2021), regular Board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. During the year ended December 31,
2021, there were only two regular Board meetings held to
review and consider the interim results and the annual
results, respectively, as the Company is not required to
announce its quarterly results under the Listing Rules. Ten
other Board meetings were held during the year.

The Chairman also held a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without presence of other Directors
during the year.

(d) #HIE BIKERRERESNRTE
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Ko BRI EMRAIARRRIBARMASE
EE4E BHE2021F12A318ILFE - &
BITMATHRESTSERUD TN RESR
HEIEERFEES  THRITTREME

L L
E2EH -

FA - BRERMEBIUIFNATERRTT —
RORBEMERIFNEZ -

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRE

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board has # ZE2021F12A31BItFEEF EF <
convened and held twelve Board meetings. Attendance CATWERITI2AEZESHE BEENESE
records of the Directors at the Board meetings are set out & &L FLSEHIWOT ¢

as follows:

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

2EHE/

Name of director BRKE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Song Qing (Chairman of the Boara)" REBERE(EER)D 1112
Mr. Cheng Libing (Chief Executive Officer) PSS (4 12/12
Ms. Ren Yuan (Chief Financial Officer) EERL(BEHEE) 12/12
Ms. Fu Yanjun (Deputy President)? N#BLR L (F/4EH) 12/12
Mr. Shan Baojie® BEANEAED 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHUTES
Mr. Wang Yan® IEH4EW 4/8
Mr. Hu Hui® FRIE S O —
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony™ RSB ED 12/12
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB LA 1112
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy iizherg iR 11/12
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix FREBSE 12/12
Notes: i

(1 Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, the independent non-executive Director, (1) B EMITESHTEIB LR EN2021F4 A230 B
resigned as the chairman on April 23, 2021, and Mr. Song Qing has been EERME REAERFABEZEREER

appointed as the chairman of even date.

2) Ms. Fu Yanjun, the deputy president of the Company, resigned as a Director  (2) BIBENFIE L LR 2021 F12 A30 B BHEE WA -
on December 30, 2021.

3) Mr. Shan Baojie was appointed as the non-executive Director on August  (3) EENEER2021F8 A2 A BEZERIFNITES -
WH2021F12 A0 FEHTES »

25, 2021, and has been re-designated as the executive Director on
December 30, 2021.

(@) Mr. Wang Yan resigned as the non-executive Director on August 25, 2021.  (4) FERER20214F8 A25 ABHEHFRITE RS -

(5) Mr. Hu Hui has been appointed as the non-executive Director on December  (5) AL AR 2021F 12 A0 BE X RFERTES -
30, 2021.
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Notice of regular Board meetings had been served to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to the meetings to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend.

For regular Board and committee meetings, all agendas,
meeting papers, together with all applicable, complete and
be sent to all the Directors or
committees at least three days before a meeting is held. All
Directors may propose any business to be included in the
agenda of the Board or committee meetings and contact the

reliable statistics will

company secretary to ensure full compliance with all of the
Board's procedures and applicable regulations.

In general, the senior management members shall attend all
the regular Board meetings and, if necessary, other Board
and committee meetings to advise on the Group's business
development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
corporate governance and risk
management as well as other significant issues. The Board
if appropriate,
independent and professional advice at the expense of the
Group. Matters discussed and resolved at Board meetings

regulatory compliance,

may, authorize the Directors to seek

will be recorded in detail by the Board secretary who shall
prepare and file the minutes or resolutions. Generally, draft
minutes of Board meeting shall be issued to the Directors
within reasonable time for their comments after such
meeting is held, and the final version will be open for
inspections by the Directors.

The Articles of Association contains provision
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in

requiring

the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such Directors or their associates have a material interest
and this provision has always been complied with.

WEMEFERZBETRME AR
B e@RXMER—ER  TBRAEZ
BEENEREL =REXEREFHEER
cRREFHIRHEMNEEIAEZEES
MEEgeRARE WAl HARMEBARIA
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S EE AEMEEAE  BEERLKRA
REENMEGEZEREER -EFEARN
RERREEESKBEYEXER  BR—
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According to the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but no less than one-third) are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any new Director appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold
the next following general meeting of the
Company and for any Director appointed as an addition to

office until

the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors shall
be eligible for re-election.

Any other appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Directors will be timely disclosed to the
Shareholders by announcement and shall include in such
announcement, the reasons given by the Director for his
resignation.

Each of the non-executive Directors was engaged on a
service contract or letter of appointment for a fixed term
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years.

The Group has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration of
Directors and senior management of the Group. Details of
the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year
ended December 31, 2021 are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management of
the Company, by band for the year ended December 31,
2021 are set out below:

4,001 to 5,000
3,001 to 4,000
2,001 to 3,000
Nil to 2,000

4,001 25,000
3,001 24,000
2,001 £3,000
Z£2,000

EEERRE
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General Meetings

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company
has convened and held one annual general meeting
("AGM"). Attendance records of the Directors at the general
meetings are set out as follows:

Name of the Directors

BRAXE

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE  ARQA DA
ARERT—ARREAFAS((RRBEK
g  BEENRREAS ZHELHEIHIINOT

Number of meetings
attended/convened

LR/

BRREK
AGM EGM
BRREBF R
N g

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman of the Board) REEE(EFR) 71 nil/ &
Mr. Cheng Libing (Chief Executive Officer) PXAL A (B E) 1/1 nil/ &
Ms. Ren Yuan (Chief Financial Officer) TELL (EEHEE) 11 nil/#
Ms. Fu Yanjun (Deputy President) NEIFL L (F/485) A nil/ &
Mr. Shan Baojie BEANEE N/ATE A nil/ &
Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Wang Yan TEE4LE 0N nil/ &
Mr. Hu Hui BIE A N/AZ 8 F nil/ &
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony HAREE & 0/1 nil/ 4%
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB LA A nil/ &
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy HeWrzt 171 nil/ &
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix FRIESE 171 nil/#&

The 2022 annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on June 2, 2022. The notice of the annual general
meeting will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear
business days before the annual general meeting.

Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure that he/she has
a proper understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and is fully aware of the responsibilities and
obligations as being a Director as well as the compliance
practice under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

relevant

ARARE]2022F MR KB F R #12202296 A
2HET BREFASBEBERRERF
AEHHRDVR0ELEHTFETRE -

EENEERER

EZEMAZESTER SEFHEE M
BZABERS  BEANZATHRASER
BR2E UWRADEHIERESTNEML
RER AR EMRAUBEBTHNARER A
fHERRE R E -
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors are kept updated on the
statutory and regulatory development and changes in the
business and the market so as to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. All Directors have participated in the
courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
director of a listed company or further enhanced their
professional development by the way of attending training
courses or reading relevant materials for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

A summary of the training received by the Directors for the

year ended December 31, 2021 according to the records
provided by the Directors is as follows:

Name of the Directors

EEERRSE

AEEEBHEBRESTLHBETERRE U
BREKENEEZMB R - EERIGE
RELACREEER ULEEERTRER
CEIBE  UEFEEBRTERE - #122021
F12A3NHLEFE  2REF2HEEHELT
PREIEEZAG  BERBEZRRE B
BH RS EEGAM T — it
BEZEEER-

RIESEMEMENLE  HE2021F128
NBULFE EEMEIEIZ2BBHOT

Attending
seminar or
reading

materials
HEf e
S HEER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman of the Board) RELEE(EFR) |
Mr. Cheng Libing (Chief Executive Officer) B (4B E) {
Ms. Ren Yuan (Chief Financial Officer) TERT (EEHFEE) |
Ms. Fu Yanjun (Deputy President) NEB L (F/4EH) {
Mr. Shan Baojie BEANGE {
Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Wang Yan TERE J
Mr. Hu Hui il e |
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony BATE MBS A& {
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB A4 |
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy iichers iR |
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix FRELE {

Nomination Committee

The Board has established the Nomination Committee on
November 4, 2013 which currently consisted of one
Executive Director, Mr. Song Qing (Chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kar
Chung Felix and Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong. Majority of the
members are independent non-executive Directors.

RREEE
EE@MN2013F 11 A4BKIIREREES -
BEE—BRTES(RBELE(ER)) AW
EBYIRTEE (A ERPLEE LB
HFE) e RKEBDHKE BBILIERITTES »
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The role and function of the Nomination Committee are set
out in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities
size and composition
knowledge and experience) of the

include reviewing the structure,
(including the skills,
Board, identifying appropriate and qualified individuals to
become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment

directorships, assessing the

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

To comply with the provisions in the CG Code on board
diversity which became effective on September 1, 2013, the
Board has adopted a policy concerning diversity of Board
members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting out a
number of factors which the Nomination Committee would
consider in reviewing and assessing the Board composition.

According to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition
and makes recommendations of changes to the composition
of the Board. The Nomination Committee would consider
the benefits of all aspects of diversity set out in the Board
Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age,
ethnicity, and educational

cultural background,

communication styles, skills, functional
expertise, problem solving skills, professional qualifications,

knowledge and industry and regional experience and other

interpersonal

qualities in reviewing and assessing the composition of the
Board and all appointments to the Board will be based on
merits and will take into account of factors based on the
Group’s own business model and specific needs from time
to time.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy on a regular basis (which will include a review on the
effectiveness of the policy), discuss any required changes
with the Board and make recommendation of revision to the
Board Diversity Policy for consideration and approval. The
Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to perform
Nomination Committee will seek independent professional
advice,

its duty. When necessary, the

at the Company's expense, to perform its

responsibilities.

REZEENAGLKBEHNERERE -
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BAMARZERBREARARIEL -
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Nomination
Committee has convened two meetings to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the
committees and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, considering the qualifications of the
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the annual
general meeting and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment of Directors. The particulars of the
attendance of the Nomination Committee are set forth as
follows:

Name of the members of the Nomination Committee
Chairman: i

EEERRSE

HZE2021F12A3BEFE - RELEE
ERMAEEURTNESSREES R
B REREKRKEARBYIFRTES Y
By EERAEENRFERAFASEERE
BEACZEARITREZESTEREEST RBEZ
BeHFEHBHINOT

Number of
meetings
attended/

convened
SHHE/

ARRE

Mr. Song Qing (Mr. Song was appointed as the RBIE(RELER2021F12530H N/A
chairman on December 30, 2021) EZHERBTERE) N3 A
Members: KE :
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix (Mr. Lee resigned as the FRBEE (FALER2021F12H30H
chairman on December 30, 2021) BIEFEBFE) 2/2
Mr. Cheng Libing (Mr. Cheng resigned as the member on X 54 (B4 4£ R 20214612530 H
December 30, 2021) FELZEBE) 2/2
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB A 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee on
November 4, 2013 which currently consisted of one
executive Director, Ms. Ren Yuan, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy
(Chairman) and Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix. Majority of the
members are independent non-executive Directors.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
set out in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities
include reviewing and formulating policies in respect of
remuneration structure for all
management and making recommendations to the Board for
its consideration.

Directors and senior

FMEES
BEEEeN2013F 1M A4 I EMEE E -
BEE—20TEE ((TrLLT) RWMBEL
FMITESE (A el (ER)EAER
A ) o KMAOKE ABYIERITES -

FHZEenAC BN ERERE -
HIZEIERRAMNIEEREBESTN
BREEABRHFHRENER XRNESE
REHEBEZRAFEEZE -

ERBEERERLAT T ——Fw%R

79



80

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the

Remuneration Committee has convened four meetings to
review the remuneration policy for all Directors and senior
management and service contracts of newly appointed
The particulars of the attendance of the
Remuneration Committee are set forth as follows:

Directors.

HZE2021F12831BLEEE  FHEEE
ERAFA4AREE URBRFT2RBESRAAE
BAENTHBRERNZTESHORES
Al FMEZESLEBFBHINOT -

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

SHLE/

Name of the members of the Remuneration Committee HMEZS KBRS BRERE
Chairman: FE:
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy HEmzt 4/4
Members: RE :
Ms. Ren Yuan EEREZL 4/4
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix TRIBEE 4/4

Audit Committee

On November 4, 2013, the Board has established the Audit
Committee currently consisted of one non-executive
Director, Mr. Hu Hui and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong (Chairman); and
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy. Majority of the members are
independent non-executive Directors. The Board considered
that the members of the Audit Committee possess
sufficient professional knowledge and experience of
accounting and financial management for the performance of
their responsibilities.

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set out
in its terms of reference. In view of the amendments to the
CG Code effective for the accounting period beginning on
January 1, 2016, the Group adopted a revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee on January 18, 2016 in
order to comply with certain changes relating to the risk
management and internal control section of the CG Code.
Its primary responsibilities include serving as a focal point
for communication among other Directors, the external
auditor and the internal auditor (where an internal audit
function exists) as regards their duties relating to financial
and other reporting, risk management and internal controls,
external and internal audits and such other financial and
accounting matters as the Board determines from time to

BERERS

EE2N2013F 11 A48 I EXRLZES -
BEE—ZIFNTES (HELE) RREE
IERTEE B B E(EF) K
SHLZ L) REOKEEFRBBULIENITE
E-EFEERR BERZESKEAEERS
LMV BEEEEMNBRER - BUABTT
BERBRE -

BEZZEENBE RSN AR EESE -
B2016F1 A1 BABHE T BBERABE
ERTANERTME - A&EBEE2MX20165F1H
1I8ERMEIEFTIBERZESHESEE - &
EEEERTREERREERANIPEEE—
BMETE8 EXZEEREEAEME
= SNEEAZ ERD R RSP AT AN (a0 SR A BP B
AR cEBBEM B EMERE - Ak
EBRANIERE  INPMABEFTRESS
THETNZSHMVMBENETEEEFE
WEBRENEZZEBBER  RAEEPBRSE
I R E B K P ES 12 5 E A AR R 155 B
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time, assisting the Board in providing an independent review
on the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
overseeing the audit procedure, reviewing the Group's
financial and accounting policies and practices and
performing other duties and responsibilities as designated by
the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Audit
Committee held three meetings to discharge its
responsibilities and review the Group’s annual and interim
results, continuing connected transactions, reporting and
compliance procedures, reports from the management on
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control function and
procedures and also the re-appointment of the external
auditor. The particulars of the attendance of the Audit
Committee are set forth as follows:

EEERRE

ExeBUMmE  BEEBERER BHAS
BB R e BRREERNETESSHE
EMEMBEMAIE -

HE2021F12A31BILFE BEXLES
BERM3NEHENBITERSYEMALEE
FERPHES BEEBRIS  BRERE
RiEF TEEEHASERREE XA
BEPR AT ANEE AP IR M2 T 2K
WMz e AR ERINEZEE - EREEE
HEFBEHYNT

Number of

meetings

attended/

convened

eHHE/

Name of the members of the Audit Committee EZZESNEHS BFIRE
Chairman: E

Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB LA 3/3
Members: RE :

Mr. Wang Yan (Mr. Wang resigned as a member on

FERLE (FHLER20214E8F25HFFZE

August 25, 2021) EB%) 0/3
Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy iichers iR 3/3
Mr. Hu Hui (Mr. Hu was appointed as a member on RRIB LA (BHE R 2021 F12 A0 HEZ (F N/A

December 30, 2021) BZA) i@ A
Mr. Shan Baojie (Mr. Shan was appointed as a BENLE (ELLER2021F8H25 H#EZ

member on August 25, 2021 and resigned as a EARZE  WR2021F12H30HEFHLZ N/A

member on December 30, 2021) EB%) i

Appointment and Remuneration of
External Auditor

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the total fee
paid/payable to the external auditors of the Group in respect
of audit is RMB4.33 million, including the annual audit
service fee payable to Ernst & Young amounted to
RMB3.73 million. The total fee paid/payable to the external
auditors of the Group in respect of non-audit service (in
respect of review interim period financial statements) is
RMBO0.6 million.
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The Audit
recommendations to the Board as to the appointment, re-
appointment and Such
appointment, re-appointment and removal are subject to the

Committee is responsible for making

removal of the external auditor.
approval by the Board and the general meetings of the

Company by the Shareholders.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Group
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
in the
independent auditor’'s report from pages 98 to 105 of this
annual report.

financial statements of the Group is set out

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2021 which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as well as the results and
cash flow during that year.
The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group ensures statutory requirements are
met and applies appropriate accounting policies that are
consistently adopted and makes judgements and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper
accounting records are kept so that the Group could prepare
statutory
requirements and the Group’s accounting policies. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities within the
Group.

financial statements in accordance with

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, has
performed an annual the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal

review on
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control systems in different aspects of the Group such as
financial, operation, compliance and risk management, and
has also assessed the accounting and financial reporting
functions of the Group, estimated the resources and
budgets for training programmes and appraised the staff
qualifications and experience. In respect of

continuing connected the Group has

members’
transactions,
implemented a series of general
controlled by multiple departments to improve corporate
governance structure and monitor the implementation of

management policies

internal control policies, including financial control system,
legal operations and
compliance management system, risk management and

anti-fraud and monitoring system,

assessment policies and internal audit rules.

The Board considers that the abovementioned systems are
effective and adequate.

The internal audit department is responsible for conducting
comprehensive audits of each department, subsidiary and
member of the Group to facilitate the management’s control
on the assets of the Group. In addition, it offers consulting
services in respect of internal control to each department of
the Group to assist them in optimizing and enhancing the
risk management and internal control systems and the
operating processes. As authorized by the management, the
audit department conducts an investigation on

internal corruption. For the year ended December 31, 2021,

internal
the internal audit department did not discover any
circumstances involving fraud, non-compliance or violation
against laws, regulations and rules or any material incidents
due to lack of internal control.

The Board considers that the current risk management and
internal control systems cover the existing businesses of the
Group, and will continue to be optimized in line with the
business development of the Group.

In particular, the Board will devote efforts to complying with
the Listing Rules, ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws and regulation and safeguarding the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general
officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential

guide to the Company's Directors,

information, monitoring information

disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that

unauthorized access and use of inside information are

strictly prohibited.

The Board of the Company assesses the likely impact of any
unexpected significant event that may impact the price of
the Shares or their trading volume and decides whether the
relevant information is considered as inside information and
needs to be disclosed as soon as practicable pursuant to
Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.
Executive Directors and the company secretary are also
responsible for approving certain announcements and/or
circulars to be
delegated by the Board from time to time.

issued by the Company under powers

Mr. So Yiu Fung has been engaged by the Company as the
company secretary and an authorized representative with
effect from July 20, 2018.

Mr. So is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Civil
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. Before
joining the Company, Mr. So worked as the company
secretary of a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange which is principally engaged in sales of
automotive electronic products and provision of advanced
driving assistance systems. Prior to that, he worked also as
the deputy finance director of a property development
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
the senior company secretarial officer of a state-owned
conglomerate and the manager of a corporate finance
advisory firm. He has extensive experience in corporate
finance, merger and acquisition, company secretarial and
accounting fields.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Mr. So has
complied with the requirement of taking no less than 15
hours of the relevant professional training under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group has not
made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of
Association.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue
at general meetings, including the re-election of individual
retiring Directors. Except where the chairman, in good faith,
decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a
show of hands, all
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules. Poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

resolutions tabled at the general

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are primary forums for
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on the
resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely
manner

communication

in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s).

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the paragraph below.

who wish to propose a resolution may
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Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one
or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary

right of voting at general

of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board believes that effective communication with
investors is essential for establishing investors’ confidence
and attracting new investors. The Company also recognizes
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables investors to make the
best investment decision.

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the
Shareholders in compliance with the Listing Rules. Updated
and key information of the Company is also available on the
Company's website at www.crmedical.hk. The Company also
replied the enquiries from Shareholders timely, if any. The
general meetings of the Company provide an important
channel for communications between the Board and the
Shareholders. The Chairman, as well as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committee and where appropriate, the chairman
of the independent Board Committee, will be available to
answer questions at the general meetings.
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For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address:  14/F, Kunlun Center Office Building
No. 9, Fuyi Street
Fengtai District
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China

Email: ir@crmedical.hk
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Mr. Song Qing, aged 56, joined the Group in August 2018
as an executive Director and the vice chairman, and was
re-designated as the chairman in April 2021
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee in
December 2021. Mr. Song holds a bachelor's degree in
Chinese medicine from Anhui University of Traditional
Chinese Medicine in Hefei, the PRC, and obtained his chief
pharmacist title from the general logistics department of the
People's Liberation Army in April 1999. Mr. Song has
extensive experiences in corporate management, and has
over 30 years of experience and sophisticated background
in the pharmaceutical industry. Mr. Song is currently the
chairman of CR Healthcare, which is the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and also takes the role as the
Company's chairman
segment of China Resources. The Company believes that
with Mr. Song's extensive experience
management and mergers and acquisitions, and his deep
understanding of the healthcare industry, he will lead the
Group to promote business development, actively participate
reform of state-owned enterprises hospitals,
accelerate the scale expansion plan of the Company, further
leverage advantages of China Resources Group and further
synergize the collaboration between the Company and China
Resources Healthcare Group. Mr. Song was the director of
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (which is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 3320) from May 2016 to August 2018, and also its
president from June 2017 to August 2018. Mr. Song was
of China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (which is listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange; stock code: 000999) and he is currently the
chairman of DIRUI Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (which is
listed on ChiNext of Stock Exchange; stock code: 300396).
He also served as an

and then

in order to lead the healthcare

in corporate

in the

the director

inspection pharmacist of quality
inspection department, a pharmacist in charge and the
director of production department, the director of the
enterprise management department and an assistant to
president of Shenzhen South Pharmaceutical Factory.
Mr. Song served as an assistant general manager, the
director of technology center, the director of medical &
pharmaceutical department of Sanjiu Enterprise.
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Mr. Cheng Libing, aged 57, is an executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in
September 2010 and responsible for daily

operations of the Group. He has been appointed as an

is primarily

executive Director and the vice Chairman in February 2016.
He has also been redesignated as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company since August 2018. Mr. Cheng is
currently also the vice-chairman of CR Healthcare, which is
the Company’s controlling shareholder. Mr. Cheng served as
the deputy general manager of Beijing Huaren Intech
Hospital Management Consulting Co., Ltd. from 2006 to
2008 and the deputy general manager of Beijing Huaren
Intech Hospital Management Consulting Co., Ltd., Beijing
Intech Eye Hospital Co., Ltd. and Intech Medical Chain from
2008 to 2010. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Cheng has served
various positions at Beijing Kangchen Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., including assistant to the general manager. Mr. Cheng
also served in various positions such as an attending doctor
at Dongzhimen Hospital Affiliated to Beijing University of
Chinese Medicine from 1988 to 1998. Mr.
currently the chairman of Beijing Jiangong Hospital Co., Ltd.,
the chairman of Run Neng Medical Management Co., Ltd.,

Cheng is

the chairman and general manager of China Resources
Hospital Management Consulting Co., Ltd. and he is also the
chairman and general manager of China Resources Hospital
Investment (China) Co., Ltd., and he also director of certain
other subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Cheng received a
bachelor's degree in Clinical Traditional Chinese Medicine
from Beijing University of Chinese Medicine in Beijing in
July 1988.
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Ms. Ren Yuan, aged 48, joined the Group in October 2017
as an executive Director and Chief Financial Officer, and has
been appointed as a member
Committee in October 2019. Ms. Ren worked as the deputy

of the Remuneration

manager of the finance department of China Resources
Microelectronics (Holdings) Limited from June 2002 to
December 2006. From February 2004 to February 2010,
Ms. Ren served as the finance director of Wuxi CR
Micro-Assembly Tech., Ltd. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Ren worked as the consultancy general director and
deputy general director of the information management
department of China Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd. since
March 2010. Ms. Ren obtained her master's degree in
accounting from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2007. Ms. Ren obtained the qualifications of
China Certified Public Accountant and China Certified Public
Valuer in December 1998 and September 1999 respectively.

Mr. Shan Baojie, aged 50, joined the Group in August 2021
as a non-executive Director and was re-designated as an
executive Director in December 2021. Mr. Shan obtained a
master degree in Accounting from Renmin University in
Beijing in June 2002 and a bachelor degree in Chemistry
from Wuhan University in Wuhan in July 1992. Mr. Shan has
of the
Company on August 25, 2021, and he is also currently the
vice general manager of CR Healthcare, the Company’s
controlling shareholder, and is also taking the office as a

been appointed as the non-executive director

director of a number of its subsidiaries. Prior to joining CR
Healthcare, Mr. Shan was with the Group from 2011 to
2016 as the executive general manager and then the vice
general manager, and he was also an executive Director of
the Company from February 2016 to November 2016. He
had served in a variety of roles at the State Food and Drug
Administration from 1998 to 2011. Mr. Shan also completed
a training program at the World Health Organization in 2007,
where he gained experience in the U.S. pharmaceutical
supervision and management system. From July 1992 to
July 1998, Mr. Shan worked in the general manager's office
of the Northeast Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Hu Hui, aged 53, joined the Group in December 2021
as a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Hu obtained a master's degree in
international economic law from the School of Management
of Dalian Maritime University in June 1996; he graduated
with a bachelor’'s degree in the major of ocean-going vessel
manoeuvring from the Maritime Department of Dalian
Maritime University in July 1989. Mr. Hu currently serves as
the general manager of the Legal and Compliance
Department (and Assets Management Department) of CR
Healthcare (the controlling shareholder of the Company) and
is also taking the office as a director of a number of its
subsidiaries. He was previously the Senior Director of the
(then named China
Resources Medical Group Co., Ltd.) from November 2011 to
2014, Manager
Department of CR Healthcare from November 2014 to
November 2019, and the head of the Comprehensive
Management Department of CR Healthcare from November
2019 to December 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Hu served as a
senior manager of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group
Co., Ltd. from January 2008 to October 2011, and a senior
manager of the Strategic & Management Department of
China Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd. from June 2007 to
December 2007. He worked at China Resources Investment
Development Co., Ltd. from March 2001 to May 2007, and
at China Resources Company Limited from July 1996 to
February 2001.

Device Division of CR Healthcare

November the General of the Legal

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, aged 66, joined the Group in
August 2018 as an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman, and then resigned as the chairman in April
2021. Mr. Wu is a leader in the healthcare industry and has
extensive management experience
Mr. Wu joined the board of the Hong Kong Hospital
Authority in 1999 and was formerly its chairman from 2004
to 2013. He has so far been the longest-serving chairman of
the Hospital Authority. He has led the team of the Hospital
Authority to manage all public hospitals and public clinics in
Hong Kong and implemented the public health policy of the
Hong Kong SAR Government. He has also actively promoted
a number of public and private medical co-operation projects
during his tenure. Mr. Wu is currently the principal advisor

in medical system.

to the State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine
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of the People’s Republic of China, a member of the Chinese
Medicine Reform and Development Advisory Committee. He
was a member of the State Council's Medical Reform
Leadership Advisory Committee and an advisor to the Public
Policy Advisory Committee of the National Health and
Family Planning Commission. Other important public
positions that Mr. Wu has served include member of the
12th and 13th Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference National Committee, and a
member of the Chief Executive's Council of Advisers on
Innovation and Strategic Development and the Task Force on
Land Supply of the Hong Kong SAR, and has been awarded
JP and GBS by the government of Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Wu
also served as the chairman of the Chamber Council of the
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce from 2010 to
2012, and
committee. Mr. Wu was a partner of Ernst & Young (“EY")

is currently a member of its consultation
from 1985 to 2015, and served as chairman of the EY's Far
East Region from 2000 to 2005. He is currently the chief
advisor to MUFG Bank, Ltd., the chairman of The China
Oxford Scholarship Fund, an honorary professor of the
Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and the Peking Union Medical College Hospital, and an
honorary fellow of the Hong Kong College of Community
Medicine. Mr. Wu also has directorships in certain listed
companies of the Main Board of the Stock Exchange: he is
an independent non-executive director of Sing Tao News
1105),
Holdings Limited (stock code: 006), Guangdong Investment
Limited (stock code: 270), China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 966), Cstone Pharmaceuticals

Corporation Limited (stock code: Power Assets

(stock code: 2616) and Venus Mecttech (Hangzhou) Inc.
(stock code: 2500). He also joined Ocumension Therapeutics
(stock code: 1477 as the independent non-executive director
in 2020. He joined CLARITY MEDICAL GROUP HOLDING
LIMITED (stock code: 1406)
executive director in 2021, and this company has gone

as the chairman and non-

public in early 2022. He was an executive director of
Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 444). He
was also an independent non-executive director of
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) from
2009 to 2015. He was also a director of the Fidelity Funds
from 2011 to 2014. Mr. Wu is a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
in England and Wales, and the
honorary chairman of the Institute of Certified Management

Chartered Accountants

Accountants (Australia) Hong Kong Branch.
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Notwithstanding Mr. Wu’'s engagement as an independent
non-executive director of eight listed companies (including
our Company) and an non-executive director of one listed
company, Mr. Wu confirmed that he would devote sufficient
time to act as our independent non-executive Director based
on the following:

° Mr. Wu is neither a full-time member of the
abovementioned companies nor involved in the
day-to-day operations or management of such
companies. As such, he has no executive and
management responsibility therein;

° he is not a chief executive officer or full-time executive
director of any listed company;

° with his background and experience, Mr. Wu is fully
aware of the responsibilities and expected time
involvement for an independent non-executive director.
He has sufficient understanding of his role as
independent director in different listed companies and
of estimating the time required for attending to the
affairs of each listed company. He has not found
difficulties in devoting to and managing his time with
numerous companies and he is confident that with his
experience in being responsible for several roles, he
will be able to discharge his duties to our Company;

° Mr. Wu's role in our Group is non-executive in nature
and he will not be involved in the daily management of
our Group's business, thus his engagement as our
independent non-executive Director will not require his
full-time participation.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors are of the view that
the various positions currently held by Mr. Wu will not result
in Mr. Wu not having sufficient time to act as our
independent non-executive Director or not properly
discharging his fiduciary duties as a director of our
Company.
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Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong, aged 74, joined the Group in
September 2013 as an independent non-executive Director
and also the chairman of the Audit Committee and has been
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on
March 23, 2018. He was the chief executive officer of Pok
Oi Hospital, a well-known non-profit hospital in Hong Kong.
As the chief executive officer, Mr.
corporate governance and management support to the board

Kwong provided

of directors for development, management and supervision
of the units under Pok Oi Hospital for the past 10 years. He
joined Pok Oi Hospital as an internal audit manager in 2003.
Mr. Kwong is a director of Yuen Long District Healthy City
Association Company Limited,
supporting the government to promote public healthcare

a non-profit organization

messages to people in the district. Before joining Pok Oi
Hospital, Mr. Kwong served as the principal auditor of the
Audit Commission of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region. Mr. Kwong served in the
Audit Commission of the Government of Hong Kong since
1980. Mr. Kwong has been a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1982.

Ms. Chiu Kam Hing Kathy, aged 72, joined the Group in
March 2018 as an independent non-executive Director, and
also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee. Ms. Chiu has years of
banking experience in Canada and the Asia Pacific Region.
Ms. Chiu was a senior vice president at the Republic
National Bank of New York and was responsible for the
management and investment of third party client’s funds.
Ms. Chiu has been an associate and a fellow of the
Institute of Canadian Bankers since July 1975 and August
1976, respectively. Ms. Chiu was appointed as a Justice of
the Peace by the Hong Kong government in July 1992 and
as a Cavaliere by the Italian Government in December 1998.
Ms. Chiu is the chairman of Prime Investments Group
Limited and the
Limited. She is currently an independent non-executive
director of Sau San Tong Holdings Limited (stock code:
8200) and CPM Group Limited (stock code: 1932), whose
shares are all listed on the Stock Exchange. She was also
an independent non-executive director of National
Agricultural Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236) from 1999
to 2019. Ms. Chiu is
management business under Type 9 regulated activities
under the SFO.

responsible officer of Masan Capital

licenced to carry out asset
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Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix, aged 40, joined the Group in
August 2015 as an independent non-executive Director and
also a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

He is currently a senior vice president of Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited (“CTFE") with responsibilities in making
investments in the healthcare sector in Asia and globally and
a director of Healthcare Ventures Holdings Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of CTFE. Mr. Lee is an executive director
of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code: 722; CTFE
shareholder of this company, and the
Company also indirectly owns 11.58% of this company as at
the date of this annual report). He is also an independent
non-executive director of Asymchem Laboratories (Tianjin)
Company Limited (which is listed on both the main board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6821) and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002821). He has over 15 years
of experience in law and finance. He was an associate with
the law firm Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer before he left in
February 2008 to join UBS AG, Hong Kong branch as an
analyst in the investment banking department until January
2009. He then joined the investment banking department of
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong branch and last held the
position of director in the Corporate Advisory Group, where
he worked from January 2009 to August 2014.

is a substantial

Mr. Lee obtained a Bachelor of Laws from the London
School of Economics and Political Sciences and a
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of
Hong Kong in July 2003 and June 2004, respectively. He is
a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since September
2007 and a solicitor (non-practising) in the Senior Courts of
England and Wales since February 2013. Mr. Lee is also a
Vice Chairman of the China Committee, the Hong Kong

General Chamber of Commerce.
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Mr. Wu Xinchun, aged 50, is the vice president of the
Company. Mr. Wu was appointed as the vice president of
the Company in December 2018. From September 2016 to
November 2018, Mr. Wu served as the director and
chairman of China Resources Wugang Medical Management
Company Limited. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wu
was the director of technology management department and
technology innovation department of Wugang Group, steel
smelting factory’'s deputy general manager and the general
manager of innovation and innovation department, general
manager of Wugang Modern City Services Group*, chairman
of Wugang CR Gas*, general manager of Wuhan Yangtze
River Water*, assistant to general manager of China Baowu
Wugang Group* from September 2001 to November 2018.
He also served as deputy secretary general of China Iron
and Steel Industry Association. He was the independent
director of Kingray New Materials Science & Technology
Co., Ltd. (a company listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600390). Mr. Wu was granted the title of senior
engineer at a professor level from Titles Evaluation
Committee of Hubei Province and obtained his doctor’s
degree from Wuhan University of Technology in December
2009 and June 2012, respectively.

Ms. Fu Yanjun, aged 42, is the vice president of the
Company. Ms. Fu joined the Group in December 2014 and
has been appointed as the vice president of the Company
since December 2016. Ms. Fu previously served as the
managing director of strategic investment department of the
Company, and she was also the executive Director of the
Company from October 2017 to December 2021. Ms. Fu
also worked for Ernst & Young Hua Ming from September
2002 to October 2010 and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA
Ltd. from October 2010 to December 2014. Ms. Fu
obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from Renmin
in July 2002 and obtained the
qualification of China Certified Public Accountant in May
2008.

University of China
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Mr. Zhou Hang, aged 53, is the vice president of the
Company. He joined the Company in August 2012 and was
appointed as the assistant president of the Company in
October 2018. Mr. Zhou served various positions in the
hospitals or companies affiliated to the Company, such as
the general manger of Jian Gong Hospital,
Mentougou Hospital and general manager of Central and

dean of

Southern China Department of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Zhou was the assistant manager of
general manager office of China International Cooperation
Company For Agriculture, Livestock and Fishery and deputy
director of logistics department of Beijing New Oriental
School. Mr.
Finance and Economics, majoring in audit.

Zhou graduated from Tianjin University of

Mr. Du Lin, aged 41, is the vice president and board
secretary of the Company. Mr. Du Lin joined the Company
in March 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Du was
the legal counsel on PRC law, senior legal counsel and chief
legal counsel of legal department of China Resources
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. from October 2008 to March 2018. Mr.
Du graduated from China University of Political Science and
Law with a doctor's degree in Law in 2008. He also
graduated from University of Leicester in the United
Kingdom with a master’'s degree in law in 2005 and
graduated from West China University of Medical Sciences
(currently known as West China Faculty of Medical
Sciences, Sichuan University) with a bachelor's degree in
medicine in 2002.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M AR

e
EY::

To the shareholders of China Resources Medical
Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or

106 to 275, which comprise the consolidated

loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

and have been

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"),
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

and we have fulfilled our other ethical

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report,
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the

including in

consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

RRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEREESPROAEHHN

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investment in a joint venture

BERR—EEERGZREZHETE
Goodwill as at 31 December 2021 was
RMB2,276,258,000. The carrying amount (before
impairment) of the investment in a joint venture,
CR Wugang (Hubei) Hospital Management Co., Ltd.
as at 31 December 2021 was RMB515,619,000.
The impairment tests performed by management
regarding the cash-generating units (“CGUs") to
which goodwill and investment in a joint venture
were allocated involved significant judgement for
the determination of the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs. During the year, an impairment of
RMB212,679,000 was made against the Group's
investment in the joint venture.

72021612 A31HEE B AR ®2,276,258,0007T °
2021128318 - R —H& & 2 F (FHER #H Of
i) BEREBARAR) 2 REZREME CRER) AA
R¥#515,619,0007T - ERERES R EHE LN —FEa
ERAIZRAEAZHGELBM ([REEAEM]) ETT
BRERAPRREER CEE BT E S REIE
HEBRHE - FAN - EEERZEERRIZRER
WA AR #212,679,0007T °

This is a key audit matter due to the magnitude,
the complexity, and the management’'s estimates
involved in the impairment testing. The accounting
policies and related disclosures are included in
notes 2.4, 3, 17 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ERNREARSRNEE  BHEENEREEN MGG
BB RARESEE SRR REEARRERANES
R M 243 17%19°

Our relation to impairment
assessment of goodwill and investment in a joint
venture included:

BB LR —BE 2R R ZKRE ZRE A
TIRFBEE:

procedures in

° Evaluating the independent valuers’

competence, objectivity and qualifications;

o EBUMEMZBERN FEMEMREE:

o Involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the discount rate applied underpinning
the discounted cash flow models by
performing re-calculations based on market
data and certain company specific parameters,
as well as evaluating the reasonableness of
parameters applied by the independent
valuers;

e  ERAMEERR  BREMSEENIE TR
EL28 - ETEFEE  UFHHBEBRSRER
BRI E - W BB EEMA28H
B

° Evaluating the reasonableness of other key
assumptions, such as growth rate and inputs
included in the financial forecast, by
comparing to historical performance and
industry data; and

o HIBERBRITEEIR - AT E TR R A
HthEF2RJIHIMEREARBAENSIEMN
&

° Performing sensitivity analysis and evaluating
the adequacy of disclosures of impairment

assessment.
o  ETHRESTULFEREN GZEENTR
o
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Key audit matter

BRETSBE

Accounting for business combinations
EBEOHETEE

As disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group completed several business
combinations of hospitals during the year. As at the
respective dates of business combinations, the
aggregate fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired amounted to approximately
RMB1,504,333,000 and goodwill of approximately
RMB804,390,000 was recognised arising from the
business combinations. The Group engaged certain
independent professionally qualified valuers to
perform the purchase price allocations on the fair
values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the business combinations.
WMERE M BRI T2 HE - EEERFRNTK
TEREREREH NREXBEHBEH  WENA
BAEEFENICABEABARARE
1,504,333,0007T * WHRRAXEBaHELENEHEOA
[R¥804,390,0007T - EEERBTETELEXES
BREVEER - LEBa TP PIRE R BRI EE K&
AN BENAABEETEEESR -

This is a key audit matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant
judgements and estimates involved in (i) the
assessment of whether the Group has obtained
control over the hospitals and whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the hospitals’
relevant activities unilaterally; (i) the identification of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and (iii) the
determination of the fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

TR ESFE - RARS RN AR &Y
RATEEHERABGMES : ()F7Eh EXERE

EESHEERNIZHE Uk EXERETAEES
RS BRABEABNERED  (VERMBEEM

AEENRE RiEEMBAERNEEMAENAE
MAREE-

The accounting policies and related disclosures of
the business combinations are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.
SRTBERMEB A OB E S NGRS B I SR M
2.4 - 342 -

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
By &BE RS

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEEEESNFRNMEHY

Our procedures in relation to the accounting for
business combinations included:

B EBEHOETRIEMATIEF B

° Examining the terms of the relevant sale and
purchase agreements, service contracts and
other related documents to assess
management’s judgement that the Group
obtained control over the hospitals;

e EREEEENE  REARMEAMERBEXER
R U EREY BEXEEIGEEREHE
T VE &Y IR

° Involving our internal valuation specialists to
evaluate the valuation methodologies adopted
and the assumptions used to determine the
fair values of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed,;

e ERAEMEERR  FHEEMKEBAZEE
RATEREE BN AR BEMRANMGER AR
A&

o Evaluating the independence, objectivity and
competence of the external valuers engaged
by management; and

e IEEEEZEMIIBEEMOBE Y  FEM
NistEae 1 &

° Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in
connection with the business combinations.

o FHEREBEMFELONBERLTRED
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one

risk of not detecting a material
resulting from error, involve
forgery,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

as fraud may

collusion, intentional omissions,

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

in the circumstances,

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY&BET#RE

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Tsz Tat.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBEERR

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12 A31HIEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARBTT ARBTT
REVENUE Wz 5 4,447,477 2,750,650
Cost of sales 5 & A (3,5613,922)  (2,114,143)
Gross profit EF 933,555 636,507
Other income Hab g A 6 120,700 104,310
Other gains and losses, net Efh W & 1B F R 7 (619) 28,958
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEER (16,782) (14,585)
Administrative expenses THER (471,447) (323,380)
Finance costs B ER 9 (17,834) (17,391)
Impairment losses on financial SREERBEFBFRE
assets, net (131,460) (19,937)
Impairment loss on an other HihmEEERBERE
intangible asset (11,150) (3,588)
Impairment loss on an investment HR—E&AZRAZEKE
in a joint venture 2R EEE (212,679) —
Other expenses Hi B (5,363) (7,677)
Share of profits and losses of: FE(R A R -
A joint venture CI =R W/NC] 1,519 1,072
Associates iR l/N] 82,035 33,896
PROFIT BEFORE TAX AT 8 270,475 418,185
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfile,(&A) 12 155,389 (97,864)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFE 425,864 320,321
Attributable to: FEfh -
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEP=WN 417,915 310,131
Non-controlling interests IR 7,949 10,190
425,864 320,321
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAEBRER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BHEAEGER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 2 F
PARENT 14
Basic (RMB yuan) ER(AREIT) 0.33 0.25
Diluted (RMB yuan) g (ARKT) 0.33 0.25
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEETHEBRSERR

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z=2021F12 A31HIEFE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
k=3 ARBTFT ARBTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFE 425,864 320,321
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hibh2EKA (E18)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) R EZBBEE TS EH
that will not be reclassified to NEEBZAEAM
profit or loss in subsequent 2EKA S (EE)
periods:
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on RERMNETEINES
defined benefit plans e (EiE) 35 8,453 (4,194)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  FE & HW A 425

FOR THE YEAR 434,317 316,127

Attributable to: FEAf -
Owners of the parent B RREA A 424,517 305,890
Non-controlling interests FEVE A% 2 9,800 10,237
434,317 316,127

FERBERERERAT —T ——Ff
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Investment in a joint venture

Investments in associates

Receivables from invest-operate-
transfer (“IOT") hospitals

Loan to a sponsored hospital

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

Other financial assets at amortised
cost

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories
Trade and bills receivables

Contract assets

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Due from related parties

Financial assets at FVTPL

Other financial assets at amortised
cost

Restricted and pledged bank
deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals

Due to related parties

Payables to hospitals sponsored by
the Group (the “Sponsored
Hospitals”)

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deferred income

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES
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1,754,607
363,835
2,276,258
75,351
302,940
961,710

58,898

65,301
597,670
10,181
76,269

6,543,020

185,075

766,603
27,560

298,529
7,141

311,031

4,592
2,324,051

3,924,582

827,574
757,989
126,283
166
1,665,899
22,225
817
42,781

3,443,734
480,848

7,023,868

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
E MR R

31 December 2021 72021412 A31H

805,149
240,483
1,471,868
1,345,623
514,100
41,397
77,214

51,197

92,718
100,095
188
76,269

4,816,301

142,035

618,103
19,840

372,395

5,472
105,296
164,927

17,454
2,701,370

4,146,892

564,125
577,102

97,751
217,717

684,301
19,398

46,792

2,207,186
1,939,706

6,756,007



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Notes

B

FnBEE

mEMBRRER

31 December 2021 742021412 A31H

2021
20214

RMB'000
ARETT

Lease liabilities Tﬂ%fﬁ_% 16(b) 40,250 46,775

Retirement benefit obligations RIREHAET 35 37,478 47,323

Deferred income I E U A 4,117 —

Deferred tax liabilities R IBAE 36 95,251 317,615

Provision B 37 327 3,840
Total non-current liabilities ERBAFEERE 177,423 415,553
Net assets BEFE 6,846,445 6,340,454
EQUITY E%ﬁ
Equity attributable to owners of ®AFEZFTEA

the parent LS

Share capital (LN 38 267 267

Reserves B 40 6,450,509 6,105,189

6,450,776 6,105,456
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 395,669 234,998
Total equity B 6,846,445 6,340,454
Cheng Libing Ren Yuan
R E TE
Director Director
EZE EZE
EHEBEZERERAT —T_—F%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

N

n

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12 A31HIEFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERBBBER

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z=2021F12 A31HIEFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REREREERRK

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12 A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Notes

B E

KERKLHPNEERE

2021
20214

RMB’000
AR TIT

Profit before tax 5 B ) E 270,475 418,185
Adjustments for: S EE
Finance costs % E A 9 17,834 17,391
Share of profits and losses of JE(E —E& & A 7] R
a joint venture and associates &N RIMAE R EE (83,554) (34,968)
Interest and investment income B K15 & WA 6 (77,446) (79,930)
Dividend income on a financial LXQ/‘CETE?F%HE@
asset at FVTPL Bt A ABENEmE
ERREKA 6 (2,795) (2,618)
Depreciation of property, plant W - B REE
and equipment weE 8 153,535 86,572
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 8 22,651 18,913
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEHH 8 6,693 7,897
Covid-19-related rent concessions HEARENTERS
from a lessor HEHEeSER 8 = (1,791)
Gain on bargain purchase = EWE KR 7 = (9,428)
Gain on lease termination %ﬁ%%ﬂ:qﬁlﬁ?’i 7 = (341)
Gain on lease modification TEEHEHSZ 7 - (15)
Fair value losses on financial UWARBEdFEAE
assets at FVTPL FEETAERMN SR
BEAABAEEBRE 7 27,417 25,140
Foreign exchange differences, net bE N = E )% 7 (26,798) (44,314)
Equity-settled share-based LR EERMD R
payment expense =3 39 10,110 8,721
Impairment losses on financial TREEREERE
assets, net FER 131,460 19,937
Impairment loss on an other HEMEy EEREREIE
intangible asset 11,150 3,588
Impairment loss on an investment R—HEEERRIZKRE
in a joint venture ZRBIEEE 212,679 —
673,411 432,939
Decrease/(increase) in inventories HFERL, (3 m) 211 (23,294)
Decrease in trade and bills FE R 5 20 e e U
receivables EER A 139,185 88,818
Increase in contract assets =y ’]ﬁ?i‘ hn (7,720) (7,720)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEfIFIE « {R:&
deposits and other receivables JJ@JEH& IE/JEK J >/
(42 90) 132,340 (782)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due  J&E W AL 5 2B 4
from related parties () (1,669) 3,912
Increase/(decrease) in trade and BB 5 FmE M ER
bills payables S®EMCRD) (31,986) 82,013
Increase/(decrease) in other H b JE S 5008 K PR ST
payables and accruals BN CRd) (102,807) 66,053
Increase in amounts due to related &1~ B8 B 75 ZOIE 1 N
parties 26,734 92,908
Decrease in retirement benefit RIKEFEER LD
obligations (1,392) (1,309)
Decrease in deferred income PR FE WA (88) —
Decrease in provision BER L (3,643) (1,189)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERERE

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z=2021F12 A31HIEFE

2021
20214
Notes RMB'000
B 7 AR®EF T
Cash generated from operations KEMEABREMRE 822,576 732,349
Interest received B F & 23,844 9,613
Income tax paid ERER (135,990) (98,274)
Net cash flows from operating KEEBFSHRESRE
activities FER 710,430 643,688
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREESNHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Investment income on financial UArBEFEEH
assets at FVTPL T AEBZNS R
BERERZ 24,837 55,746
Dividend received from a financial BURAAREEFSFZAE
asset at FVTPL HEETAEZNES M
B EWEZ RS 2,795 2,618
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BELEE
plant and equipment THH (198,434) (209,547)
Proceeds from disposal of items of EEWE « MEM&E
property, plant and equipment IH B T8 5/7R 2,096 7,399
Receipt of government grant for WEZE - BB MEE2
property, plant and equipment X 3 17 B 3,405 —
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERIG N (28,824) —
Settlement of consideration for the WEEMELEERN
acquisition of other intangible HELE
assets - (8,000)
Purchases of financial assets at BENUAREEFEAR
FVTPL HE8)i ABE/
TREE (3,495,401) (6,336,405)
Proceeds from disposal of financial EENAABEEAR
assets at FVTPL HEBrABEN
EEEEFERIE 3,892,561 6,741,505
Purchases of other financial assets & B H fb 32 $5 A A
at amortised cost ATEMERMEE (984,000) (363,721)
Proceeds from disposal of other B B H 0 1% #E SH AR R
financial assets at amortised cost ATENEREEMS
B 359,597 126,768
Repayment from 10T hospitals REIOTER Z B 11,187 13,353
Repayment from a Sponsored RERPERBR ZER
Hospital = 5,893
Investments in associates REBENRZ2RE (869,117) (7,350)
Acquisitions of non-controlling W IR IR fE 2
interests (18,328) (67,503)
Acquisition/consolidation of WHE, & BEH B A R
subsidiaries 42 (651,281) 117,216
Settlement of consideration for the  UgEEM B A & HY
acquisition of subsidiaries HE#EE = (190)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted and  [R&IEF D EIRRITFER
pledged bank deposits B, (35 hn) 12,862 (17,417)
Net cash flows from/(used in) wEEBFE(FTA)
investing activities HEmEFE (1,936,045) 60,365

FERBEERERAT —ZT - —F%



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SREREREBRE

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12 A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KEREEDH

ACTIVITIES REeERE
Sales of treasury shares &S E A7 AR 1D - 380
Repayment to the Sponsored [ 22 413 e 8 B 58 3K

Hospitals (1,555) —
New bank borrowings FTERITE 6,072,644 455,237
Repayment of bank borrowings RITIERAER (5,087,477) (315,438)
Principal portion of lease payments  FEMZHI A E 2B H (18,467) (8,683)
Capital contributions by non- IEFERAR R T E

controlling shareholders = 980
Capital contribution by a related —ZB@EHHEE

party 544 595
Dividend paid B E (91,076) (115,092)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ST F IR R 2

shareholders A% 2 (8,883) (10,634)
Distribution upon deregistration of a i — BB Q&8

subsidiary balis = (507)
Interest paid [RENEIES) (19,774) (14,220)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEFBE(FTH)

financing activities HemEFHE 845,956 (7,382)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRBLEEWILN/

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CRA) 58 (379,659) 696,671
Cash and cash equivalents at FYReRBEEEEY

beginning of year 2,701,370 2,006,220
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXFE T EFE

changes, net 2,340 (1,521)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREELRASEED

AT END OF YEAR 2,324,051 2,701,370
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited is
a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of the registered office of the
Company is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, PO Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman lIslands. The principal place of
business of the Company in Mainland China is located
at 14/F, Kunlun Center Office Building, No. 5
Courtyard, No. 9 Fuyi Street, Fengtai District, Beijing,
the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC").

During the vyear, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were mainly
engaged in the provision of general healthcare
services, hospital management services, group
purchasing organisation (“GPO") business and other
hospital-derived services in Mainland China.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
are disclosed in note 50 to the financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include all International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at FVTPL which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

B RS MR AR MR

31 December 2021 2021412 A31H

E=HEREITRERARNHAS ST
R R BREE AR o NARIGEMIE
B2 b3 A4th  Floor, Harbour Place,
103 South Church Street, PO Box
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Cayman lIslands * N2 BIFE A B A Y
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REE RNRABREME QAR (FH
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i EE50 B -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk M =

31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

116

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

REMBHmERBEEE2021F12A31
HIEFEAREEMNFERE - WE QA
BAARHEEEMEEEFENE
B(BEEAEHTER) EXKEHEEH
H2MEELZHIREL R ZEMA
E R ER] - WREA MR E B RERE
EHYER RS (BNIRARF A EAR
SEERRREBEEHRNBRAE
&) IR FEBUIEHIRE o

ERARAPERIERAFREHRIRN
RZBORZESIALER - AEER
AHEEHREHRELHEARIKE
EFAHBEERIER B -

(@) HEREHROEMEREREA
RIMH BT

(b) HMAKLHPTELNERN @ &
() AKRBNERERLRECRERE-

f R R 2 I R Ty IR A R BIAEE
MR E IR KA B ERERR
B MBEARZEEIEAEEESE
HIEE AREIESFE AR LEEZREA
R EEARMEFERLEERARL -

Ba M EMEEBRARNSHEKRED YR
BEBRAEEERRHEE A RIFIERE
& BB SR S| BUF R R S SRS B 1R
B BN AKRERERARIBR S 2
BEEEARSARZENEERARE
- WA FXRBRSREANEGS
ARSI -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial
statements.

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark

IFRS 9, IAS 39, Reform — Phase 2
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021 (early adopted)

Amendment to
IFRS 16

B RS ERAR M EE

31 December 2021 2021412 A31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk M =

31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are

described below:

(a)

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial
reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-
free rate (“RFR"). The amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest
rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount of financial assets and liabilities when
accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a
direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for
determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise
on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of IFRS 9 to measure and
recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The
amendments also provide a temporary relief to
entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR s
designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable
requirement is met, provided the entity
reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable
users of financial statements to understand the
effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity's financial instruments and risk
management strategy.

RETBERBERELENNEE T E
BT

BRI R 5 ERE o5 - B E
FTERIE395E - BRI EIRE &
RIE 75 - AR B®EELFE4
S R BIRR B s S R 1658 2
&R B R SERERT R R P KR H)
BERANEREEREMER
g ER(TERARAE] DR - Z
EMBENerEVB®RE - %%
EETRHEAITEETRE ERE
TeREERABENERBESR
R ESE ABREK - BRI
R EREEREEESIB  ME
TARRESMOFEELCLE L
EREEEEHAA LA ELE - 8
AEMERANE mMEZAES
MEERBENREME LI
BB AR B+
SR I R R E Bk &
&) AR ETE R R o 1B
MR BEE LM TSk EE -
1935 18 BB B A5 3R 5 2 R B 95R AY
FTEERER UHERERY
SREESM - BRI MEHRY
BB ROE - B ERRF
RIETARBARKIHNER
T EBEBERRABLHNNE
Ko ZRBR BB T
KRBEIXEFEAUBLENNE
ko RREZEBSEEHER
% ) = 79 [2 B 48 A 2B 0 FE R R 24
BAREE BRI BILHR It
Sh BT ERERBEEEIN
B UM BHRERERET#
FMEEENEHEENeRT A
MEREERBEHZE o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") and United States dollars based on the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") as at
31 December 2021. The Group expects that
HIBOR will continue to exist and the interest rate
benchwork reform has not had an impact on the
Group’s HIBOR-based borrowings. For the LIBOR-
based borrowings, since the interest rates of
these borrowings were not replaced by RFRs
during the year, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group. If the interest rates of
these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a
future period, the Group will apply the above-
mentioned practical expedient upon the
modification of these borrowings provided that
the “economically equivalent” criterion is met.

Amendment to IFRS 16 issued in March 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for
which any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before 30
June 2022, provided the other conditions for
applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendment recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits at the
beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier
application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on
1 January 2021. However, the Group has not
received covid-19-related rent concessions and
plans to apply the practical expedient when it
becomes applicable within the allowed period of
application.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5ot 7% S

31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

AREBWEEMBHRERTEA T H
18 i R A R AT S B BT BB BA 7
AR o

[ == s VAN

Amendments to
IFRS 3
Amendments to

IFRS 10 and IAS 28

IFRS 17

Amendments to
IFRS 17

Amendment to
IFRS 17

Amendments to
IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice

Statement 2
Amendments to
IAS 8
Amendments to
IAS 12

Amendments to
IAS 16

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts? *

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds

BR#BREERAERL
]

BRA B REEAF105%R

B g ERE28% 2
3]

BRMHRELAFTHR

A
B 7
BR#BRELERE17H

5]

BB REEAE 175

5l

Eli-RR AL ivA )

BREEAE1RR
AR BEREENER
B EYEpA

Bl Rl 8%2@5

SR g3 BIE 1282 54T

EABAER

REZBREETLE
REZEHEE
HELTE
ﬁ@Aﬁz
FEA

B BHEENZ7
FHERG FHEE
A9 — HEER
by dik

BEDERRDZ
Fii’

Bt BRNRE

BittEE
BE-RFELY

before Intended Use'

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of

IAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract’
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1,

to IFRSs IFRS 9, lllustrative

2018-2020 Examples accompanying

IFRS 16, and IAS 41"

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Further information about those IFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to
IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2022. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk M =

31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10
and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity's right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of
the reporting period if it complies with those
conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for
these amendments is not necessary. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group’s accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of
that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied
prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss.
The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs
that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of
initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the

Group are as follows:

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other's
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged
on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

° IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in |lllustrative Example
accompanying IFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of

incentives when applying IFRS 16.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and a joint
venture are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group's share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and a joint
venture is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its
share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investments in the associates or joint venture, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint venture is
included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint venture.
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If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control
over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’'s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group measures its financial assets at FVTPL at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

NABERVBRATELRENA
BEMAE  ERYAREEAERE
BEZMHEKF I ARIERI TPt
ERARBEBRT DA :

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in F—H — BEUBNEEXEER
active markets for identical assets or TR TS R TR AR (E
liabilities %

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which FH — BEBHAREBEHERE

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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An assessment is made at the end of each reporting SMEKR  eRERTEEMNTRE
period as to whether there is an indication that /T\?EHI MR R EBE T BTl
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer ERAEL T - WMEZTR - &M
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication A el eRE - LRI EE (TREIER
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A B)EROBEERE  ERANUNETZ
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset ﬁ?ﬁ’]THﬂZ@i%ﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁﬂrﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%Mﬁé
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been M EBRESETIERRBRRBTFE
a change in the estimates used to determine the ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁiéf%ﬁﬁa/u\/)ﬁiéﬁ)%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmE’\J
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an IREE (FOBREAIITE,#H) - BER
amount higher than the carrying amount that would BREBEREEHANTABRE

have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: RTINERT » — AR REREEE
A B -
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (a) ZHAE—BALTHZALRED
person’s family and that person i B AL
()  has control or joint control over the Group; (i) Bl EEESIAER
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAKEBEREEH K
(il is a member of the key management (i) AEAEENAEEGAAN
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the FTEBTHEEKE
Group;
or %
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

WE - BERERE(ERIREN R
PR RET I E RAE DR EE R -
WE - BELRBERENKAREEE
(B RATAI B B B2 @ AR S b B 1
BERENERBERAE

WE - BELRBERERAELEREE
MEBRRESRX - —RRELHR
BEDEXNEG - AN SRR ENER
T ARERAXEAMERZEENK
H{E  EREERA © W% BE K&
RENBEEMOATHER - BIAKHE
MR E 0 AR E A F R E R
BEXHBETNE -

P PR E R B AR S A A 4
BREYE R RS ER MR
M EHRE - AR EEEE
P

Buildings 2% to 5% B 2% &E5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of HEEENR A 10%

lease terms and 10% (A E & A%)
Medical equipment 10% to 20% BERE 10% £20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20% T 10% Z20%
Office equipment 20% to 50% N 20% Z£50%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

EME - BELREBEENSBIBT
E A AFER - ZBENKAEGESD
REZID  BSEILDBILAEN
E-RE- MFERFHRTEREED
REFBFEERETR KA (0B
) e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings
and related leasehold improvements under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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The operating rights are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful economic lives of
16 to 48 years.

Sponsorship rights and service contracts with indefinite
useful lives are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The GSP Licence is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over
its estimated useful economic life of 46 months.

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets. At inception or on
reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components and to account for the lease
component and the associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.

AR RERBEYIRR A
REGE A EREEFIMI6E48F A
BARRBEH -

150 A 6 H AR R e R o AR T & [RIA B
AR A (] R B & 1R 51 B -

GSP#F A] 78 #% A AR AE (TR (B 5 1R 51
R - IR AE FT AT 4R A AR F Hi461E A
WEGOREH

AEBRGHNBEFEERENEEE
HEXBEHE - Ha O ASBMBHEM
BT aE—BRYRADRRIEE 2 £ Rz
B AZeNEHEKREHE -

AEBHMBHEERAE R NTE
HE(EHHEREEEEEHEER
o) c AEEEAEEAGBMELAESE
NRERERKRERGEEEENNE
REEE - NEeasHEERD LIFHER
D ZERFIERAEMTER  AKE
RAATEREDE Y TR IFEER
7 U HEERY RAEIFEER D
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Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-

line basis over the lease terms as follows:

Leasehold land
Leased properties
Medical equipment

50 to 60 years
1 to 9 years
1 to b years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

(a)
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(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable, variable

recognised at the

lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g.,
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

a change to future lease

(b)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income.
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Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
model are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.
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A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a ERMAREGEN(BEemBEXI R
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from B8 MOTAE E\E:1%/\I%%T\i%§zj
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if BENLESERRR  EEER A
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely T/TEI/EJHHH%WE'JﬁﬁIE?Q? g
related to the host; a separate instrument with the TEMTEZR: BREEHNIWIEURARE
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet B2 BEEHT ABa - BIZITET
the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is HHFEIRATERBEBITETAY
not measured at fair value through profit or loss. B e ARDTET EBRAARBEE
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with ARBEEZHNERRER - EEGL
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of ERHIREF AR RNIBERNEEMERLT
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is FIEBReRER HERMBEZURR
either a change in the terms of the contract that BEFEEEZH TN EENCREE
significantly modifies the cash flows that would EEFHER  JHETERTMG -

otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss

category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract BRAREGEHN(BEEeREETRE) M
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for MTETAENSERYK eMEETE
separately. The financial asset host together with the HERBRANTETABEEEYBEAUA
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its AEEFEREEZHTABESNESRE
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit E e

or loss.

144  China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
"pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’'s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract
assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated -credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

B RS ERAR M EE

31 December 2021 2021412 A31H

i & # 1 E BEI90H - B AL ER
REBEEEN AWM EETHER
T MAESIMNBER R - R AR
RAEBFRFHANEMEERTER
Al AREBAKAIRERBMEIREES
WFIE - AIAKEARAEREEE
e MEAEEBHKESORER
B AMEERMEE -

WEERAT ENEREEN R R
ETUARE - SO EE TR EIA
AAERHEEER(TEEERBS
EZRWESFTAMEBHNEE)  #15E
mE e

E1RER — eRIANEERBREE
IR HE TR A 1 I 4 7R R I
m-HEEBRGERER
REABHEEERD

TR E

F2RE — FEERREEXERAR
EEENNESR T A
TIEEERENEHE
E) EBEBERERER
T HEREEBEENSRE

it

FIEER — RHREBBREERER
TREE (EXLIFBAK
BRENEERESHRE
E) HERBERER
EHMEMEEEENESR

ok

ERERZERERAT —T-—FRK

147



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk M =

31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

148

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is recognised in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s
own equity instruments.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to disposal.
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For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to be that which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one vyear, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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(a)

(b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Provision of general healthcare services

Revenue from the provision of in-patient services
is recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from the provision of out-patient
services is recognised at a point in time when the
services are provided.

Provision of hospital management services

Revenue from
management services is recognised over time
because the customer simultaneously receives

the provision of hospital

and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

The service fees are calculated based on pre-set
formulas set out in the arrangements and certain
service fees are subject to limitations primarily
relating to the IOT hospitals’
Hospitals' net income before tax (3 & 8%) and/
or the performance rating assessments of the
Group. Such service fees are accounted for as

and Sponsored

variable consideration and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the amounts of such service
fees because this method best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

(a)

(b)
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(c) GPO business

Revenue the GPO business generated from the
sale of medical products is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the medical products.

(d)  Provision of other hospital-derived services

Revenue from the provision of other hospital-
derived services is recognised at the point in
time when the consultation reports are issued to
the customer or when the consultation services
are completed.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods
or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e.,
goods or services to the customer).

transfers control of the related

Other than the costs which are capitalised as
inventories, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.
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The capitalised contract costs are amortised and
charged to the statement of profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Company operates a share option scheme and a
share award scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms
of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

B RS ERAR M EE

31 December 2021 2021412 A31H

HHEE BB T AR EBER - T
SEBERBIENSRIRGT - BEF
AR B AT BRI E R R B ET R AR 57
ErtEm TEAHENKEMS - THR
BIEMRMERTENARBER - 2
BB 5 (AT LA R A - {E0R A AERARY
ARFFESK - GWAR IR R B IR IT - BRIE
RSB RGN, REBRN - BRI
B RREZBN AR EBES - X
BHIASNRBER -

HRERMRIFTISRERN,RRB &
HmR&E AR EE - AT HERE
- ERBBRERMSAIFEEBIRTNIE
ST - REWR A BB, R
RN - RIERED mE TSR E
&t - R BRREE -

MRIER T EREE BRI
BIanRm 2 B A IR IG165K - BIE D JE
HERAREBIETRAER o - HIME
RGNS SRR A A BEMESXN
SESER 2 A EB B RO EREE
HERRER -

ERERZERERAT —T-—FRK

(58



160

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Rk M =

31 December 2021 2021512 A31H

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options and share
awards is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees, who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

BUB R EENREE - $EEAE
HEBUEz B - 30 A = KL 2R E SR
M E &ML AR - ER/ETH
RS B3 B TR I #6 E A Y 3R 57 8 1
e E(T22E) - B2 - MRIAFTHEERE)
BHREBURM R - WER T 2 BRIE
EAE IR - BT BURME &Y 2R 15
AR Y R IA SR EER - BN _EERRR

le_o

el AR T 152 B 3 A A e S A BE B A BB
RaESRAN N E S RSB

AEBRBEEERHIERERET R ED
R —RERBETRTME AR RINGE
FMEtEl (TafEeatall))  HEEK2
mREAENEES M - BRAKIKTS
BRI SF BIRA - RIFEEEXR
FenXEaoatE  ARBABNE
RIBERIG - BESHAENEERS
VEENESRAEEEEDRARH
AEBENRIHANAEEREEIED
KB EETEE -

AEBEEFEAMELNMBARINE
THASIMAERTBTEENHRE
Eoatdl e BREEMBARKETLE
A —EL PP REZ S
g - HFRBFABEZDHINATERE
ENEFERmRE -

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan
which requires contributions to be made to a
separately administered fund. The benefits are
unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under the
defined benefit plan is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension
plans, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect
of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability) and the
return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in
net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement
of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at
the earlier of:

o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment;
and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-
related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate
to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group
recognises the following changes in the net defined
benefit obligation under “cost of sales” and
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

° service costs comprising current service costs,
past-service costs, gains and losses on

curtailments and non-routine settlements

° net interest expense or income
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Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company's memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

These financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’'s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions.
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The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries a